

Senate Calendar

THURSDAY, MARCH 12, 2026

SENATE CONVENES AT: 1:00 P.M.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page No.

ACTION CALENDAR

UNFINISHED BUSINESS OF MARCH 11, 2026

Second Reading

Favorable with Recommendation of Amendment

- S. 179 An act relating to the Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act
Judiciary Report - Sen. Mattos 361

NEW BUSINESS

Third Reading

- S. 173 An act relating to workers' compensation and the Vermont Labor
Relations Board..... 370
- S. 183 An act relating to home improvement and land improvement
fraud..... 370
- S. 213 An act relating to the use of smart meters by public water
systems..... 370
- S. 223 An act relating to water quality of the waters of Vermont..... 370
- S. 230 An act relating to flexible working arrangements..... 370

Second Reading

Favorable with Recommendation of Amendment

- S. 212 An act relating to potable water supply and wastewater system
connections
Natural Resources and Energy Report - Sen. Watson 370
Finance Report - Sen. Beck 377
- S. 227 An act relating to creating immigration protocols in Vermont schools
Education Report - Sen. Ram Hinsdale 377

NOTICE CALENDAR

Committee Bill for Second Reading

Favorable with Recommendation of Amendment

S. 326 An act relating to miscellaneous amendments to laws relating to motor vehicles
By the Committee on Transportation (Senator Westman for the Committee)381
Transportation Report - Sen. Westman381
Finance Report - Sen. Chittenden 406
Amendment - Sens. Westman, et al406

Second Reading

Favorable with Recommendation of Amendment

S. 211 An act relating to motor vehicle inspections
Transportation Report - Sen. White428
Finance Report - Sen. Mattos429

S. 214 An act relating to the provision of prekindergarten education in geographically isolated school districts
Education Report - Sen. Heffernan 430

S. 298 An act relating to creating the Vermont Voting Rights Act
Government Operations Report - Sen. White430

Report of Committee of Conference

H. 50 An act relating to identifying underutilized State buildings and land
Committee of Conference Report 435

CONCURRENT RESOLUTIONS FOR NOTICE

S.C.R. 7-8 (For text of Resolutions, see Addendum to Senate Calendar for March 12, 2026) 435

H.C.R. 217-226 (For text of Resolutions, see Addendum to House Calendar for March 12, 2026)435

ORDERS OF THE DAY

ACTION CALENDAR

UNFINISHED BUSINESS OF WEDNESDAY, MARCH 11, 2026

Second Reading

Favorable with Recommendation of Amendment

S. 179.

An act relating to the Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act.

Reported favorably with recommendation of amendment by Senator Mattos for the Committee on Judiciary.

The Committee recommends that the bill be amended by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

Sec. 1. 14 V.S.A. chapter 129 is added to read:

CHAPTER 129. VERMONT DISCLAIMER OF PROPERTY INTERESTS
ACT

§ 4101. SHORT TITLE

This chapter may be cited as the “Vermont Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act.”

§ 4102. DEFINITIONS

As used in this chapter:

(1) “Disclaimant” means the person to whom a disclaimed interest or power would have passed had the disclaimer not been made.

(2) “Disclaimed interest” means the interest that would have passed to the disclaimant had the disclaimer not been made.

(3) “Disclaimer” means the refusal to accept an interest in or power over property.

(4) “Fiduciary” means a personal representative, trustee, agent acting under a power of attorney, or other person authorized to act as a fiduciary with respect to the property of another person.

(5) “Jointly held property” means property held in the name of two or more persons under an arrangement in which all holders have concurrent interests and under which the last surviving holder is entitled to the whole of the property.

(6) “Person” means an individual, corporation, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture, government, governmental subdivision, governmental agency, governmental instrumentality, public corporation, or any other legal or commercial entity.

(7) “Personal representative” means a duly appointed representative of a probate estate, such as an executor or administrator.

(8) “State” means a state of the United States, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the United States Virgin Islands, or any territory or insular possession subject to the jurisdiction of the United States. The term includes an Indian tribe or band, or Alaskan native village, recognized by federal law or formally acknowledged by a state.

(9) “Trust” means:

(A) an express trust, charitable or noncharitable, with additions thereto, whenever and however created; or

(B) a trust created pursuant to a statute, judgment, or decree that requires the trust to be administered in the manner of an express trust.

§ 4103. SCOPE

This chapter applies to disclaimers of any interest in or power over property, whenever created.

§ 4104. SUPPLEMENTED BY OTHER LAW

(a) Unless displaced by a provision of this chapter, the principles of law and equity supplement this chapter.

(b) This chapter does not limit any right of a person to waive, release, disclaim, or renounce an interest in or power over property under a law other than this chapter.

§ 4105. POWER TO DISCLAIM; GENERAL REQUIREMENTS; WHEN IRREVOCABLE

(a) A person may disclaim, in whole or in part, any interest in or power over property, including a power of appointment. A person may disclaim the interest or power even if its creator imposed a spendthrift provision or similar restriction on transfer or a restriction or limitation on the right to disclaim.

(b) Except to the extent a fiduciary’s right to disclaim is expressly restricted or limited by another statute of this State or by the instrument creating the fiduciary relationship, a fiduciary may disclaim, in whole or in part, any interest in or power over property, including a power of appointment, whether acting in a personal or representative capacity. A fiduciary may

disclaim the interest or power even if its creator imposed a spendthrift provision or similar restriction on transfer or a restriction or limitation on the right to disclaim, or an instrument other than the instrument that created the fiduciary relationship imposed a restriction or limitation on the right to disclaim.

(c) To the extent that there is no material conflict of interest, a parent, as defined in 15C V.S.A. § 102(16), can disclaim on behalf of the parent's minor, if a guardian has not been or is not required to be appointed for the child.

(d) To be effective, a disclaimer shall be in a writing or other record, declare the disclaimer, describe the interest or power disclaimed, be signed, and be delivered or filed in the manner provided in section 4112 of this title. As used in this subsection:

(1) "Record" means information that is inscribed on a tangible medium or that is stored in an electronic or other medium and is retrievable in perceivable form.

(2) "Signed" means:

(A) by the person making the disclaimer, or by another individual directed by the person making the disclaimer to sign the name of the person making the disclaimer in the presence of the person making the disclaimer and two credible witnesses who shall also sign the record in the presence of all parties hereto; and

(B) with present intent to authenticate or adopt a record to:

(i) execute or adopt a tangible symbol; or

(ii) attach to or logically associate with the record an electronic sound, symbol, or process.

(e) A partial disclaimer may be expressed as a fraction, percentage, monetary amount, term of years, limitation of a power, or any other interest or estate in the property.

(f) A disclaimer becomes irrevocable when it is delivered or filed pursuant to section 4112 of this title or when it becomes effective as provided in sections 4107–4111 of this title, whichever occurs later.

(g) A disclaimer made under this chapter is not a transfer, assignment, or release.

§ 4106. DISCLAIMER OF INTEREST IN PROPERTY

(a) As used in this section:

(1) “Future interest” means an interest that takes effect in possession or enjoyment, if at all, later than the time of its creation.

(2) “Time of distribution” means the time when a disclaimed interest would have taken effect in possession or enjoyment.

(b) Except for a disclaimer governed by section 4107 or 4108 of this title, the following rules apply to a disclaimer of an interest in property:

(1) The disclaimer takes effect as of the time the instrument creating the interest becomes irrevocable, or, if the interest arose under the law of intestate succession, as of the time of the intestate’s death.

(2) The disclaimed interest passes according to any provision in the instrument creating the interest providing for the disposition of the interest, should it be disclaimed, or of disclaimed interests in general.

(3) If the instrument does not contain a provision described in subdivision (2) of this subsection, the following rules apply:

(A) If the disclaimant is not an individual, the disclaimed interest passes as if the disclaimant did not exist.

(B) If the disclaimant is an individual, except as otherwise provided in subdivisions (C) and (D) of this subdivision (3), the disclaimed interest passes as if the disclaimant had died immediately before the time of distribution.

(C) If by law or under the instrument, the descendants of the disclaimant would share in the disclaimed interest by any method of representation had the disclaimant died before the time of distribution, the disclaimed interest passes only to the descendants of the disclaimant who survive the time of distribution.

(D) If the disclaimed interest would pass to the disclaimant’s estate had the disclaimant died before the time of distribution, the disclaimed interest instead passes by representation to the descendants of the disclaimant who survive the time of distribution. If no descendant of the disclaimant survives the time of distribution, the disclaimed interest passes to those persons, including the state but excluding the disclaimant, and in such shares as would succeed to the transferor’s intestate estate under the intestate succession law of the transferor’s domicile had the transferor died at the time of distribution. However, if the transferor’s surviving spouse is living but is remarried at the time of distribution, the transferor is deemed to have died unmarried at the time of distribution.

(4) Upon the disclaimer of a preceding interest, a future interest held by a person other than the disclaimant takes effect as if the disclaimant had died or ceased to exist immediately before the time of distribution, but a future interest held by the disclaimant is not accelerated in possession or enjoyment.

§ 4107. DISCLAIMER OF RIGHTS OF SURVIVORSHIP IN JOINTLY HELD PROPERTY

(a) Upon the death of a holder of jointly held property, a surviving holder may disclaim, in whole or part, the greater of:

(1) a fractional share of the property determined by dividing the number one by the number of joint holders alive immediately before the death of the holder to whose death the disclaimer relates; or

(2) all of the property except that part of the value of the entire interest attributable to the contribution furnished by the disclaimant.

(b) A disclaimer under subsection (a) of this section takes effect as of the death of the holder of jointly held property to whose death the disclaimer relates.

(c) An interest in jointly held property disclaimed by a surviving holder of the property passes as if the disclaimant predeceased the holder to whose death the disclaimer relates.

§ 4108. DISCLAIMER OF INTEREST BY TRUSTEE

If a trustee disclaims an interest in property that otherwise would have become trust property, the interest does not become trust property.

§ 4109. DISCLAIMER OF POWER OF APPOINTMENT OR OTHER POWER NOT HELD IN FIDUCIARY CAPACITY

If a holder disclaims a power of appointment or other power not held in a fiduciary capacity, the following rules apply:

(1) If the holder has not exercised the power, the disclaimer takes effect as of the time the instrument creating the power becomes irrevocable.

(2) If the holder has exercised the power and the disclaimer is of a power other than a presently exercisable general power of appointment, the disclaimer takes effect immediately after the last exercise of the power.

(3) The instrument creating the power is construed as if the power expired when the disclaimer became effective.

§ 4110. DISCLAIMER BY APPOINTEE, OBJECT, OR TAKER IN DEFAULT OF EXERCISE OF POWER OF APPOINTMENT

(a) A disclaimer of an interest in property by an appointee of a power of appointment takes effect as of the time the instrument by which the holder exercises the power becomes irrevocable.

(b) A disclaimer of an interest in property by a permissible appointee or taker in default of an exercise of a power of appointment takes effect as of the time the instrument creating the power becomes irrevocable.

§ 4111. DISCLAIMER OF POWER HELD IN FIDUCIARY CAPACITY

(a) If a fiduciary disclaims a power held in a fiduciary capacity that has not been exercised, the disclaimer takes effect as of the time the instrument creating the power becomes irrevocable.

(b) If a fiduciary disclaims a power held in a fiduciary capacity that has been exercised, the disclaimer takes effect immediately after the last exercise of the power.

(c) A disclaimer under this section is effective as to another fiduciary if the disclaimer so provides and the fiduciary disclaiming has the authority to bind the estate, trust, or other person for whom the fiduciary is acting.

§ 4112. DELIVERY OR FILING

(a) As used in this section, “beneficiary designation” means an instrument, other than an instrument creating a trust, naming the beneficiary of:

(1) an annuity or insurance policy;

(2) an account with a designation for payment on death;

(3) a security registered in beneficiary form;

(4) a pension, profit-sharing, retirement, or other employment-related benefit plan; or

(5) any other nonprobate transfer at death, including an enhanced life estate deed created pursuant to 27 V.S.A. chapter 6.

(b) Subject to subsections (c)–(m) of this section, delivery of a disclaimer may be effected by personal delivery, first-class mail, or any other method likely to result in its receipt.

(c) In the case of an interest created under the law of intestate succession or an interest created by will, other than an interest in a testamentary trust:

(1) the disclaimer shall be delivered to the personal representative of the decedent’s estate; or

(2) if no personal representative is then serving, the disclaimer shall be filed with a court having jurisdiction to appoint the personal representative.

(d) In the case of an interest in a testamentary trust:

(1) the disclaimer shall be delivered to the trustee then serving, or if no trustee is then serving, to the personal representative of the decedent's estate; or

(2) if no personal representative is then serving, the disclaimer shall be filed with a court having jurisdiction to enforce the trust.

(e) In the case of an interest in an inter vivos trust:

(1) the disclaimer must be delivered to the trustee then serving;

(2) if no trustee is then serving, the disclaimer shall be filed with a court having jurisdiction to enforce the trust; or

(3) if the disclaimer is made before the time the instrument creating the trust becomes irrevocable, the disclaimer shall be delivered to the settlor of a revocable trust or the transferor of the interest.

(f) In the case of an interest created by a beneficiary designation that is disclaimed before the designation becomes irrevocable, the disclaimer shall be delivered to the person making the beneficiary designation.

(g) In the case of an interest in personal property created by a beneficiary designation that is disclaimed after the designation becomes irrevocable, the disclaimer shall be delivered to the person obligated to distribute the interest.

(h) If real property or an interest in real property is disclaimed, a copy of the disclaimer shall be recorded in the land records of the town in which the property or interest disclaimed is located.

(i) In the case of a disclaimer by a surviving holder of jointly held property, the disclaimer shall be delivered to the person to whom the disclaimed interest passes.

(j) In the case of a disclaimer by a permissible appointee or taker in default of exercise of a power of appointment at any time after the power was created:

(1) the disclaimer shall be delivered to the holder of the power or to the fiduciary acting under the instrument that created the power; or

(2) if no fiduciary is then serving, the disclaimer shall be filed with a court having authority to appoint the fiduciary.

(k) In the case of a disclaimer by an appointee of a nonfiduciary power of appointment:

(1) the disclaimer shall be delivered to the holder, the personal representative of the holder's estate or to the fiduciary under the instrument that created the power; or

(2) if no fiduciary is then serving, the disclaimer shall be filed with a court having authority to appoint the fiduciary.

(l) In the case of a disclaimer by a fiduciary of a power over a trust or estate, the disclaimer shall be delivered as provided in subsection (c), (d), or (e) of this section, as if the power disclaimed were an interest in property.

(m) In the case of a disclaimer of a power by an agent, the disclaimer shall be delivered to the principal or the principal's representative.

§ 4113. WHEN DISCLAIMER BARRED OR LIMITED

(a) A disclaimer is barred by a written waiver of the right to disclaim.

(b) A disclaimer of an interest in property is barred if any of the following events occur before the disclaimer becomes effective:

(1) the disclaimant accepts the interest sought to be disclaimed;

(2) the disclaimant voluntarily assigns, conveys, encumbers, pledges, or transfers the interest sought to be disclaimed or contracts to do so; or

(3) a judicial sale of the interest sought to be disclaimed occurs.

(c) A disclaimer, in whole or part, of the future exercise of a power held in a fiduciary capacity is not barred by its previous exercise.

(d) A disclaimer, in whole or part, of the future exercise of a power not held in a fiduciary capacity is not barred by its previous exercise unless the power is exercisable in favor of the disclaimant.

(e) A disclaimer is barred or limited if so provided by law other than this chapter.

(f) A disclaimer of a power over property that is barred by this section is ineffective. A disclaimer of an interest in property that is barred by this section takes effect as a transfer of the interest disclaimed to the persons who would have taken the interest under this chapter had the disclaimer not been barred.

§ 4114. TAX QUALIFIED DISCLAIMER

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, if as a result of a disclaimer or transfer the disclaimed or transferred interest is treated pursuant to the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, as may be amended, or any regulations promulgated under it, as never having been transferred to the

disclaimant, then the disclaimer or transfer is effective as a disclaimer under this chapter.

§ 4115. RECORDING OF DISCLAIMER

If an instrument transferring an interest in or power over property subject to a disclaimer is required or permitted by law to be filed, recorded, or registered, then the disclaimer may be so filed, recorded, or registered. Failure to file, record, or register the disclaimer does not affect its validity as between the disclaimant and persons to whom the property interest or power passes by reason of the disclaimer.

§ 4116. APPLICATION TO EXISTING RELATIONSHIPS

Except as otherwise provided in section 4113 of this title, an interest in or power over property existing on the effective date of this chapter as to which the time for delivering or filing a disclaimer under law superseded by this chapter has not expired may be disclaimed after the effective date of this chapter.

§ 4117. RELATION TO ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES IN GLOBAL AND NATIONAL COMMERCE ACT

This chapter modifies, limits, and supersedes the federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001, et seq., but does not modify, limit, or supersede Section 101(c) of that act (15 U.S.C. § 7001(c)) or authorize electronic delivery of any of the notices described in Section 103(b) of that act (15 U.S.C. § 7003(b)).

§ 4118. UNIFORMITY OF APPLICATION AND CONSTRUCTION

In applying and construing this uniform act, consideration shall be given to the need to promote uniformity of the law with respect to its subject matter among states that enact it.

Sec. 2. REPEAL

14 V.S.A. chapter 83 (Uniform Disclaimer of Property Interests Act) is repealed.

Sec. 3. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on passage.

(Committee vote: 4-0-1)

NEW BUSINESS

Third Reading

S. 173.

An act relating to workers' compensation and the Vermont Labor Relations Board.

S. 183.

An act relating to home improvement and land improvement fraud.

S. 213.

An act relating to the use of smart meters by public water systems.

S. 223.

An act relating to water quality of the waters of Vermont.

S. 230.

An act relating to flexible working arrangements.

Second Reading

Favorable with Recommendation of Amendment

S. 212.

An act relating to potable water supply and wastewater system connections.

Reported favorably with recommendation of amendment by Senator Watson for the Committee on Natural Resources and Energy.

The Committee recommends that the bill be amended by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

Sec. 1. 10 V.S.A. § 1971 is amended to read:

§ 1971. PURPOSE

It is the purpose of this chapter to:

(1) establish a comprehensive program to regulate the construction, replacement, modification, and operation of potable water supplies and wastewater systems in the State in order to protect human health and the environment, including potable water supplies, surface water, and groundwater;

* * *

(6) ~~allow delegation of the permitting program created by this chapter to municipalities demonstrating the capacity to administer the chapter~~ review of potable water supply and wastewater system connections pursuant to general permits adopted under this chapter.

Sec. 2. 10 V.S.A. § 1972 is amended to read:

§ 1972. DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this chapter:

* * *

(6) “Potable water supply” means the source, treatment, and conveyance equipment used to provide water used or intended to be used for human consumption, including drinking, washing, bathing, the preparation of food, or laundering. This definition includes a service connection to a public water system of any size. This definition does not include any internal piping or plumbing, except for mechanical systems, such as pump stations and storage tanks or lavatories, that are located inside a building or structure and that are integral to the operation of a potable water system. This definition also does not include a potable water supply that is subject to regulation under chapter 56 of this title.

* * *

(10) “Wastewater system” means any piping, pumping, treatment, or disposal system used for the conveyance and treatment of sanitary waste or used water, including carriage water, shower and wash water, and process wastewater. This definition does not include any internal piping or plumbing, except for mechanical systems, such as pump stations and storage tanks or toilets, that are located inside a building or structure and that are integral to the operation of a wastewater system. This definition also does not include wastewater systems that are used exclusively for the treatment and disposal of animal manure. In this chapter, “wastewater system” refers to a soil-based disposal system of less than 6,500 gallons per day, or a sewerage sanitary sewer collection system connection of any size.

Sec. 3. 10 V.S.A. § 1973 is amended to read:

§ 1973. PERMITS

(a) Except as provided in this section and sections 1974 and 1978 of this title, a person shall obtain a permit from the Secretary before:

* * *

(7) making a new or modified connection to a new or existing potable water supply or wastewater system; or

* * *

(f)(1) The Secretary shall give deference to a certification by a licensed designer with respect to the engineering design or judgment exercised by the designer in order to minimize Agency review of certified designs. Nothing in this section shall limit the responsibility of the licensed designer to comply with all standards and rules, or the authority of the Secretary to review and comment on design aspects of an application or to enforce Agency rules with respect to the design or the design certification.

~~(2) The Secretary shall issue a permit for a new or modified connection to a water main and a sewer main or indirect discharge system from a building or structure in a designated downtown development district upon submission of an application under subsection (b) of this section that consists solely of the certification of a licensed designer, in accordance with subsection (d) of this section, and a letter from the owner of the water main and sewer main or indirect discharge system allocating the capacity needed to accommodate the new or modified connection. However, this subdivision (2) shall not apply if the Secretary finds one of the following:~~

~~(A) The Secretary has prohibited the system that submitted the allocation letter from issuing new allocation letters due to a lack of capacity.~~

~~(B) As a result of an audit of the application performed on a random basis or in response to a complaint, the system is not designed in accordance with the rules adopted under this chapter.~~

* * *

(k)(1) The Secretary shall adopt a general permit for both potable water supply and wastewater system connections that require a permit under this chapter. Under the general permit, the Secretary may give deference to applications for connections certified by a licensed designer. The Secretary shall publish a manual providing guidance to licensed designers implementing the general permit for potable water supply or wastewater system connections. The manual shall include guidance for determining or defining the capacity of a public water system or pollution abatement facility for purposes of approving a potable water supply or wastewater system connection.

(2) The Secretary may adopt general permitting programs for other activities that require a permit under this section that the Secretary determines are low risk, low impact, and low complexity.

Sec. 4. 10 V.S.A. § 1976 is amended to read:

§ 1976. DELEGATION OF CONNECTION PERMITTING AUTHORITY
TO MUNICIPALITIES

(a)(1) The Secretary may delegate to a municipality authority to:

~~(A) implement all sections of this chapter, except for sections 1975 and 1978 of this title; or~~

~~(B) implement permitting under this chapter for the subdivision of land, a building or structure, or a campground when the subdivision, building or structure, or campground is served by sewerage connections and water service lines, provided that:~~

~~(i) the lot, building or structure, or campground utilizes both a sanitary sewer service line and a water service line; and~~

~~(ii) the water main and sanitary sewer collection line that the water service line and sanitary sewer service line are connected to are owned and controlled by the delegated municipality.~~

~~(2) If a municipality submits a written request for delegation of this chapter, the Secretary shall delegate authority to the municipality to implement and administer provisions of this chapter, the rules adopted under this chapter, and the enforcement provisions of chapter 201 of this title relating to this chapter, provided that the Secretary is satisfied that the municipality:~~

~~(A) has established a process for accepting, reviewing, and processing applications and issuing permits, that shall adhere to the rules established by the Secretary for potable water supplies and wastewater systems, including permits, by rule, for sewerage connections;~~

~~(B) has hired, appointed, or retained on contract, or will hire, appoint, or retain on contract, a licensed designer to perform technical work that must be done by a municipality under this section to grant permits;~~

~~(C) will take timely and appropriate enforcement actions pursuant to the authority of chapter 201 of this title;~~

~~(D) commits to reporting annually to the Secretary on a form and date determined by the Secretary;~~

~~(E) will only issue permits for water service lines and sanitary sewer service lines when there is adequate capacity in the public water supply system source, wastewater treatment facility, or indirect discharge system; and~~

~~(F) will comply with all other requirements of the rules adopted under section 1978 of this title The Secretary may delegate to a municipality authority to conduct technical review of proposed projects that include both~~

municipal potable water supply and municipal wastewater system connections that require a permit under this chapter, provided that the water main and sanitary sewer collection line that the water service line and sanitary sewer service line are connected to are owned and controlled by the delegated municipality. Municipalities delegated authority under this section shall be required to incorporate the requirements of the Secretary's general permit for potable water supply and wastewater system connections into a municipal connection approval, including deference to applications for connections certified by a licensed designer.

(2) If a municipality submits a request for delegation of authority under this subsection, the Secretary shall delegate authority to the municipality to implement and administer provisions of this chapter governing municipal potable water supply and wastewater system connections, provided that the municipality:

(A) is qualified to perform the technical review as determined by the Secretary;

(B) receives authorization from the municipal legislative body to administer a program for review of potable water supply and wastewater system connections;

(C) meets any other requirement for the delegation program as adopted by the Secretary in writing;

(D) will only issue permits for water service lines and sanitary sewer service lines when there is adequate capacity in the public water system, wastewater treatment facility, or indirect discharge system;

(E) submits required documentation of the permitted project as determined by the Secretary; and

(F) complies with the requirements for connection and all requirements of the Agency's rules adopted under section 1978 of this title.

* * *

(f) The Secretary may review municipal implementation of this section on a random basis, or in response to a complaint, or on ~~his or her~~ the Secretary's own motion. This review may include consideration of the municipal implementation itself, as well as consideration of the practices, testing procedures employed, systems designed, system designs approved, installation procedures used, and any work associated with the performance of these tasks.

Sec. 5. 3 V.S.A. § 2822 is amended to read:

§ 2822. BUDGET AND REPORT; POWERS

* * *

(i) The Secretary shall not process an application for which the applicable fee has not been paid unless the Secretary specifies that the fee may be paid at a different time or unless the person applying for the permit is exempt from the permit fee requirements pursuant to 32 V.S.A. § 710. Municipalities shall be exempt from the payment of fees under this section except for those fees prescribed in subdivisions (j)(1), (7), (8), (14), and (15) of this section for which a municipality may recover its costs by charging a user fee to those who use the permitted services. Municipalities shall pay fees prescribed in subdivisions (j)(2), (10), (11), (12), and (26) of this section, except that a municipality shall also be exempt from those fees for stormwater systems prescribed in subdivisions (j)(2)(A)(iii)(I), (II), or (IV) and (j)(2)(B)(iv)(I), (II), or (V) of this section for which a municipality has assumed full legal responsibility under 10 V.S.A. § 1264. Municipalities that conduct a technical review or approval of a potable water supply or wastewater system connection permitted under 10 V.S.A. § 1976 within the municipality may charge a fee for the cost of municipal services, provided that the municipality shall pay an administrative processing fee of \$100.00 for submission to the Secretary of Natural Resources of documentation of the municipally permitted project.

(j) In accordance with subsection (i) of this section, the following fees are established for permits, licenses, certifications, approvals, registrations, orders, and other actions taken by the Agency of Natural Resources.

* * *

(4) For potable water supply and wastewater permits issued under 10 V.S.A. chapter 64. Projects under this subdivision include: a wastewater system, including a sewerage connection; and a potable water supply, including a connection to a public water supply:

(A) Original applications, or major amendments for a project that is not a potable water supply or wastewater system connection with the following proposed design flows. In calculating the fee, the highest proposed design flow whether wastewater or water shall be used:

(i) design flows 560 gpd or less: \$306.25 per application;

(ii) design flows greater than 560 and less than or equal to 2,000 gpd: \$870.00 per application;

(iii) design flows greater than 2,000 and less than or equal to 6,500 gpd: \$3,000.00 per application;

(iv) design flows greater than 6,500 and less than or equal to 10,000 gpd: \$7,500.00 per application; or

(v) design flows greater than 10,000 gpd: \$13,500.00 per application.

(B) Minor amendments: \$150.00.

(C) Minor projects: \$270.00.

As used in this subdivision (j)(4)(C), “minor project” means a project that meets the following: there is an increase in design flow but no construction is required; there is no increase in design flow but construction is required, excluding replacement potable water supplies and wastewater systems; or there is no increase in design flow and no construction is required, excluding applications that contain designs that require technical review.

(D) Notwithstanding the other provisions of this subdivision (4), when a project is located in a Vermont neighborhood, as designated under 24 V.S.A. chapter 76A, the fee shall be ~~no~~ not more than \$50.00 in situations in which the application has received an allocation for sewer capacity from an approved municipal system. This limitation shall not apply in the case of fees charged as part of a duly delegated municipal program.

(E) Original applications or major amendments for coverage under a potable water supply or wastewater system connection general permit issued under 10 V.S.A. § 1973(k)(1), the following fee according to the highest proposed design flow of wastewater or water for the connection:

(i) design flows below 2,000 gpd: \$250.00 per application;

(ii) design flows of between 2,000 gpd and 6,500 gpd: \$2,500.00 per application;

(iii) design flows greater than 6,500 gpd: \$5,000.00 per application;

* * *

Sec. 6. IMPLEMENTATION; REPEAL OF EXEMPTIONS IN RULE

(a) On or before December 1, 2027, the Secretary of Natural Resources shall publish the general permit and manual required under 10 V.S.A. § 1973(k)(1) for potable water supply or wastewater system connections.

(b) Beginning on January 1, 2028, the Secretary of Natural Resources shall begin to accept certifications of the connections of potable water supplies and wastewater systems under the general permit required by 10 V.S.A. § 1973(k)(1).

(c)(1) The following provisions of the Department of Environmental Conservation's Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules shall be repealed on January 1, 2028:

(A) Subdivisions 1-304(15) and (16) (modification of design flows of a wastewater system or potable water supply serving an existing building or structure);

(B) Subdivision 1-603(b)(2) (related to full delegation of permitting to municipalities); and

(C) Subdivisions 1-603(b)(8), (9), and (10) (related to recordkeeping by fully delegated municipalities).

(2) References in chapter 6 of the Department of Environmental Conservation's Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules related to full delegation to municipalities of permitting potable water and wastewater system connections are no longer applicable or enforceable due to the repeal of statutory authority for full delegation.

Sec. 7. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on July 1, 2026.

(Committee vote: 5-0-0)

Reported favorably by Senator Beck for the Committee on Finance.

The Committee recommends that the bill ought to pass when amended as recommended by the Committee on Natural Resources and Energy.

(Committee vote: 7-0-0)

S. 227.

An act relating to creating immigration protocols in Vermont schools.

Reported favorably with recommendation of amendment by Senator Ram Hinsdale for the Committee on Education.

The Committee recommends that the bill be amended by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

Sec. 1. PURPOSE

The purpose of this act is to secure the right of every child to equal access to a free public education and to a school that is safe from intimidation and fear, regardless of immigration status. In order to ensure the right to educational equality, schools must take steps to protect the integrity of school learning environments for all children, so that no parent is discouraged from

sending a child to, and no child is discouraged from attending, school, including due to the threat of immigration enforcement on a school campus.

Sec. 2. 16 V.S.A. chapter 33 is amended to read:

CHAPTER 33. FIRE AND EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS DRILLS
AND SAFETY PATROLS, AND IMMIGRATION PROTOCOLS

* * *

§ 1486. IMMIGRATION PROTOCOLS

(a) Definitions. As used in this section:

(1)(A) “Law enforcement officer” has the same meaning as in 20 V.S.A. § 2351a and includes any officer of a federal law enforcement agency or any person acting on behalf of a local, state, or federal law enforcement agency.

(B) “Law enforcement officer” does not include a school resource officer or safety officer who is stationed at a school.

(2) “Nonpublic area of a school” means an area of a school that normally requires authorization by the school to enter, consistent with the policy required by section 1484 of this chapter, and includes any area a school determines to be nonpublic.

(3) “School” means a public school or an independent school approved under section 166 of this title, and includes employees, independent contractors, and school resource and safety officers working for the school.

(b) Immigration resources. A superintendent shall:

(1) distribute immigration and civil rights–related resources to staff, students, and family members of students that are provided to the superintendent by the Office of the Attorney General or by another source that has had its resources reviewed and approved by the Office;

(2) at each school the superintendent oversees, designate at least one individual to serve as a resource for immigration-related matters who shall receive on an ongoing basis from the superintendent updated information and training material as provided to the superintendent by the Office of the Attorney General; and

(3) foster, to the greatest extent possible, a relationship with a legal or immigration advocacy institution that will provide assistance to a student with regard to immigration-related concerns, including a situation where a guardian of the student has been detained by immigration authorities while the student is in school.

(c) Student records. Schools are prohibited from using policies or procedures to engage in practices that have the effect of excluding a student from school, including:

(1) collecting or requesting information regarding citizenship or immigration status of a student or of a family member of the student except as required by State or federal law or as required to administer a State or federally supported educational program;

(2) designating the student's immigration status, citizenship, place of birth, nationality, or national origin:

(A) in any database that the school maintains; or

(B) as directory information, as that term is defined by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), 20 U.S.C. § 1232g and 34 C.F.R. Part 99; and

(3) voluntarily sharing student information, including immigration status, citizenship, place of birth, nationality, national origin, sexual orientation, status as a survivor of domestic violence or sexual assault, status as a recipient of public assistance, or school discipline records, with a third party unless required to do so by State or federal law.

(d) Law enforcement on site and requests for information.

(1) The superintendent of a school shall:

(A) subject to subdivision (B) of this subdivision (1), be the sole authority to admit a law enforcement officer who appears on an immigration-related matter into a nonpublic area of school; and

(B) designate at least one individual who works at each school to serve as a designee of the superintendent in the event that the superintendent is not present when the law enforcement officer appears on site.

(2) The superintendent or designee shall not allow a law enforcement officer appearing on an immigration-related matter into a nonpublic area of a school unless a judicial warrant is presented by the officer that names a specific individual under arrest or subject to a search.

(3) In the event a law enforcement officer appearing on an immigration-related matter enters a nonpublic area of a school without approval from the superintendent or designee, the school shall not obstruct the officer from entering the nonpublic area of a school.

(4) Absent a judicial warrant, no school shall reveal any information about a student or school staff member in response to an immigration-related request from a law enforcement officer.

(5) As used in this subsection, “immigration-related matter” and “immigration-related request” mean an administrative warrant, civil warrant, immigration detainer, or any other document or request that pertains to an individual’s immigration or citizenship status.

(6) On or before January 1, 2027, the Agency of Education, in consultation with the Vermont Superintendents Association, shall develop, and review at least annually, model administrative procedures to help schools execute the policies set forth in this subsection.

(e) Immigration agreements. Except as required by federal or State law, no school shall enter into an agreement with a State, local, or federal government entity that furthers the enforcement of any immigration law. The school superintendent is the sole individual to approve an agreement required by federal or State law.

(f) Applicability. Nothing in this section is intended to prohibit or impede any school from complying with the lawful requirements of 8 U.S.C. §§ 1373 and 1644.

(g) Policy required.

(1) Model policy. On or before January 1, 2027, the Agency of Education, in consultation with the Office of the Attorney General, the Vermont Independent School Association, and the Vermont School Boards Association shall develop, and review at least annually, a model policy that reflects the requirements set forth in this section.

(2) Adoption of policy.

(A) Beginning with the 2027–2028 school year, each school board shall develop, adopt, ensure the enforcement of, and make available in the manner described under subdivision 563(1) of this title an immigration protocol policy that shall be at least as stringent as the model policy developed by the Agency. Any school board that fails to adopt a policy shall be presumed to have adopted the most current model policy published by the Agency.

(B) Beginning with the 2027–2028 school year, each approved independent school shall develop, adopt, and ensure enforcement of an immigration protocol policy that shall be at least as stringent as the model policy developed by the Agency. Any approved independent school that fails

to adopt a policy shall be presumed to have adopted the most current model policy published by the Agency.

Sec. 3. IMMIGRATION RESOURCE GUIDE

(a) The Office of the Attorney General, in consultation with the Agency of Education, shall develop an immigration resource guide pursuant to 16 V.S.A. § 1486(b)(1). The guide shall:

(1) include immigration- and civil rights-related resources; information regarding standby guardianships pursuant to 14 V.S.A § 2626a; and a list of immigration, human rights, and relevant advocacy organizations available to provide immigration assistance to students and staff;

(2) be developed in a manner that serves to protect the privacy and safety of students and staff; and

(3) be completed on or before August 1, 2026, and be sent to all superintendents for distribution to school districts on or before August 31, 2026.

(b) The Office of the Attorney General shall review the guide at least once annually and send any updates to the guide to all superintendents not later than 30 days after completing the update.

Sec. 4. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on July 1, 2026.

(Committee vote: 6-0-0)

NOTICE CALENDAR

Committee Bill for Second Reading

Favorable with Recommendation of Amendment

S. 326.

An act relating to miscellaneous amendments to laws relating to motor vehicles.

By the Committee on Transportation, Senator Westman for the Committee.

Reported favorably with recommendation of amendment by Senator Westman for the Committee on Transportation.

The Committee recommends that the bill be amended by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

* * * Nondriver Identification Cards * * *

Sec. 1. 23 V.S.A. § 115 is amended to read:

§ 115. NONDRIVER IDENTIFICATION CARDS

(a)(1) Any Vermont resident who does not have an operator's license may make application to the Commissioner and be issued an identification card that is attested by the Commissioner as to true name, correct age, residential address unless the listing of another address is requested by the applicant or is otherwise authorized by law, and any other identifying data as the Commissioner may require that shall include, in the case of minor applicants, the written consent of the applicant's parent, guardian, or other person standing in loco parentis.

* * *

(4) An individual shall not hold at the same time an operator's license and a nondriver identification card issued pursuant to this section.

* * *

(g)(1) An identification card issued to a first-time applicant and any subsequent renewals by that ~~person~~ individual shall contain a photograph or imaged likeness of the applicant.

(2) The photographic identification card shall be available at a location designated by the Commissioner.

(3)(A) ~~An~~ Except as otherwise provided pursuant to subdivision (B) of this subdivision (g)(3), an individual issued an identification card under this subsection that contains an imaged likeness section may renew the individual's identification card by mail.

~~(B) Except that a renewal by an individual required to have a photograph or imaged likeness under this subsection must be made~~ An identification card issued pursuant to this section shall be renewed in person so that an updated imaged likeness of the individual is obtained not less often than at least once every nine years to permit an updated photograph or imaged likeness of the holder to be obtained.

* * *

~~(k) At the option of the applicant,~~ An applicant shall surrender the applicant's valid Vermont license may be surrendered in connection with an application for an identification card pursuant to this section. In those instances, the fee due under subsection (a) of this section shall be reduced by:

* * *

(m)(1) An individual who is sentenced to serve a period of imprisonment of six months or more committed to the custody of the Commissioner of Corrections in a correctional facility and who is eligible for a nondriver identification card under the requirements of this section shall, upon proper application and submission of the documentation required for a non-REAL ID or REAL ID identification card and in advance of release from a correctional facility, be provided with a nondriver identification card for a fee of \$0.00.

(2) As part of reentry planning, the Department of Corrections shall inquire with the individual to be released about the individual's desire to obtain a nondriver identification card, operator's license, or ~~any driving credential~~ replacement learner's permit, if eligible, and inform the individual about the differences, including any costs to the individual.

(3) If the individual desires a nondriver identification card, the Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles to provide an identification card for the individual at the time of release.

(n)(1) If an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility is eligible for a nondriver identification card under the requirements of this section, the Department of Corrections, as soon as reasonably practicable, shall obtain the documentation required for a non-REAL ID or REAL ID nondriver identification card and shall provide the individual with the documentation at the time of release.

(2) The application shall include the post-release mailing address of the individual and proof that the individual is a resident of Vermont following release from the correctional facility.

(3) Upon proper application and submission of all required documentation following release from the correctional facility, an individual who was detained for six months or more in a correctional facility shall be provided with a nondriver identification card for a fee of \$0.00.

(4) The Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles regarding the documentation required for an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility to obtain a non-REAL ID or REAL ID nondriver identification card.

(o) The Commissioner shall provide a form that, upon the individual's execution, shall serve as a document of an anatomical gift under 18 V.S.A. chapter 110. An indicator shall be placed on the nondriver identification card of any individual who has executed an anatomical gift form in accordance with this section.

(p) As used in this section, “correctional facility” has the same meaning as in 28 V.S.A. § 3.

* * * Operator’s Licenses * * *

Sec. 2. 23 V.S.A. § 613 is amended to read:

§ 613. REPLACEMENT LICENSE

* * *

(c)(1) An individual who is sentenced to serve a period of imprisonment of six months or more in a correctional facility who holds an unexpired license issued under the provisions of this subchapter or who held a Vermont operator’s license that expired not more than three years prior shall:

(A) be eligible to apply for a replacement license pursuant to the provisions of this section; and

(B) upon proper application and submission of the documentation required for a non-REAL ID or REAL ID and in advance of release from a correctional facility, be provided with a replacement operator’s license for a fee of \$0.00.

(2) The application shall include the post-release mailing address of the individual and proof that the individual will be a resident of Vermont following release from the correctional facility.

(3) As part of reentry planning, the Department of Corrections shall inquire with each individual regarding whether the individual would like to obtain a nondriver identification card, operator’s license, or replacement learner’s permit, if eligible, and shall provide the individual with information regarding required documentation and any associated costs.

(4) If an individual would like to obtain an operator’s license pursuant to the provisions of this section and is eligible, the Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles to provide an operator’s license to the individual at the time the individual is released from the correctional facility.

Sec. 3. 23 V.S.A. § 613 is amended to read:

§ 613. REPLACEMENT LICENSE

* * *

(d)(1) An individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility shall be eligible to apply for a replacement license pursuant to the provisions of this section if, at the time the individual submits

an application to obtain a replacement license pursuant to this subsection, the individual:

(A) holds an unexpired license issued under the provisions of this subchapter; or

(B) held a Vermont operator's license that expired not more than three years prior.

(2) If an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility is eligible for a replacement operator's license under the requirements of this section, the Department of Corrections, as soon as reasonably practicable, shall obtain the documentation required for a non-REAL ID or REAL ID operator's license and shall provide the individual with the documentation at the time of release.

(3) The application shall include the post-release mailing address of the individual and proof that the individual is a resident of Vermont following release from the correctional facility.

(4) Upon proper application and submission of all required documentation following release from the correctional facility, an individual who was detained for six months or more in a correctional facility shall be provided with a replacement operator's license for a fee of \$0.00.

(5) The Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles regarding the documentation required for an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility to obtain a non-REAL ID or REAL ID replacement operator's license.

(e) As used in this section, "correctional facility" has the same meaning as in 28 V.S.A. § 3.

Sec. 4. 23 V.S.A. § 617 is amended to read:

§ 617. LEARNER'S PERMIT

* * *

(d)(1) An applicant shall pay \$24.00 to the Commissioner for each learner's permit or a duplicate or renewal thereof.

* * *

(4) A replacement learner's permit issued pursuant to subsection (g) of this section shall be issued for a fee of \$0.00.

* * *

(g)(1) An individual sentenced to serve a period of imprisonment of six months or more in a correctional facility who holds an unexpired learner's permit issued under the provisions of this section or who held a learner's permit issued under the provisions of this section that expired not more than two years prior shall:

(A) be eligible to apply for a replacement learner's permit pursuant to the provisions of this section; and

(B) upon proper application and submission of all required documentation in advance of release from a correctional facility, be provided with a replacement learner's permit upon release.

(2) The application shall include the post-release mailing address of the individual and proof that the individual will be a resident of Vermont following release from the correctional facility.

(3) As part of reentry planning, the Department of Corrections shall inquire with each individual regarding whether the individual would like to obtain a nondriver identification card, operator's license, or replacement learner's permit, if eligible, and shall provide the individual with information regarding required documentation and any associated costs.

(4) If an individual would like to obtain a replacement learner's permit pursuant to the provisions of this section and is eligible, the Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles to provide a replacement learner's permit to the individual at the time the individual is released from the correctional facility.

Sec. 5. 23 V.S.A. § 617 is amended to read:

§ 617. LEARNER'S PERMIT

* * *

(h)(1) An individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility shall be eligible to apply for a replacement learner's permit pursuant to the provisions of this section if, at the time the individual submits an application to obtain a replacement learner's permit pursuant to this subsection, the individual:

(A) holds an unexpired learner's permit issued under the provisions of this section; or

(B) held a learner's permit issued under the provisions of this section that expired not more than two years prior.

(2) If an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility is eligible for a replacement learner's permit under the requirements of this section, the Department of Corrections, as soon as reasonably practicable, shall obtain the documentation required for a learner's permit and shall provide the individual with the documentation at the time of release from the correctional facility.

(3) The application shall include the post-release mailing address of the individual and proof that the individual is a resident of Vermont following release from the correctional facility.

(4) Upon proper application and submission of all required documentation following release from the correctional facility, an individual who was detained for six months or more in a correctional facility shall be provided with a replacement learner's permit for a fee of \$0.00.

(5) The Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles regarding the documentation required for an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility to obtain a replacement learner's permit.

(i) As used in this section, "correctional facility" has the same meaning as in 28 V.S.A. § 3.

Sec. 6. 28 V.S.A. § 102 is amended to read:

§ 102. COMMISSIONER OF CORRECTIONS; APPOINTMENT;
POWERS; RESPONSIBILITIES

* * *

(c) The Commissioner is charged with the following responsibilities:

* * *

(25) To coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles to provide eligible individuals with nondriver identification cards and documentation pursuant to 23 V.S.A. § 115(m) and (n), replacement operator's licenses and documentation pursuant to 23 V.S.A. § 613(c) and (d), and replacement learner's permits and documentation pursuant to 23 V.S.A. § 617(g) and (h).

* * * Insufficient Funds for Fees * * *

Sec. 7. 23 V.S.A. § 110 is amended to read:

§ 110. ~~BAD CHECKS~~ INSUFFICIENT FUNDS RECEIVED FOR FEES

(a) Whenever any check or electronic funds transfer, including a credit or debit charge, issued in payment of any fee or for any other purpose is tendered

to the Department of Motor Vehicles and payment is not honored by the bank on which the check is drawn or entity to which the electronic funds transfer is submitted, the Commissioner shall send a written notice of its nonpayment to the ~~maker or person presenting the check and if the check is not immediately made good~~ who provided insufficient funds and, if the required amounts are not promptly paid as required by the Commissioner, the Commissioner shall suspend the license or registration of the person or persons. In no case shall the license or registration be reinstated until settlement has been made in full. Settlement in full shall also include the payment of any penalties assessed by the State Treasurer.

(b) The Commissioner may require payment for any transaction solely by certified check or in cash from persons whose licenses or registrations are under suspension pursuant to subsection (a) of this section or from persons who have repeatedly tendered checks or electronic payments to the Department that have not been honored ~~by the bank on which drawn~~.

* * *

* * * Penalties for Operation of Prohibited Vehicles in Smugglers' Notch * * *

Sec. 8. 23 V.S.A. § 1006b is amended to read:

§ 1006b. SMUGGLERS' NOTCH; WINTER CLOSURE OF VERMONT
ROUTE 108; VEHICLE OPERATION PROHIBITED

* * *

(b) Vehicle operation prohibition.

* * *

(2) The employer of an operator who is operating a vehicle in the scope of employment and violates this subsection or the operator of a vehicle who is operating a vehicle for personal purposes and violates this subsection shall be subject to a civil penalty of ~~\$1,000.00~~ \$10,000.00 or, if the violation results in substantially impeding the flow of traffic on Vermont Route 108, a civil penalty of ~~\$2,000.00~~ \$20,000.00. For a second or subsequent conviction within a three-year period, the applicable penalty shall be doubled.

* * *

* * * Salvage Titles * * *

Sec. 9. 23 V.S.A. § 2091 is amended to read:

§ 2091. SALVAGE CERTIFICATES OF TITLE; FORWARDING OF
PLATES AND TITLES OF CRUSHED VEHICLES

* * *

(b)(1) Except as provided in subsection (c) of this section, the application shall be accompanied by:

~~(1)~~(A) any certificate of title for the vehicle; and

~~(2)~~(B) any other information or documents that the Commissioner may reasonably require to establish ownership of the vehicle and the existence or nonexistence of any security interest in the vehicle.

(2)(A) Supporting documents used to transfer ownership of a vehicle to an insurer following payment of damages:

(i) shall not require a notarized signature;

(ii) may be signed electronically; and

(iii) may be printed on hard copy.

(B) As used in this subdivision (b)(2):

(i) “Signed electronically” means that a person, with the intent to sign the record, uses an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to or logically associated with a record and executed or adopted by a person. For purposes of this subdivision (b)(2), an electronic signature on a supporting document shall utilize a secure authentication system that identifies the signatory with a degree of certainty equivalent to or greater than level 2 as described in the National Institute of Standards and Technology’s June 2017 Digital Identity Guidelines, NIST Special Publication 800-63-3, Revision 3.

(ii) “Supporting documents” include bills of sale, title documents, odometer disclosure forms, and powers of attorney.

(C) An insurer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Department for any claims arising from the issuance of a certificate of title pursuant to this section.

* * *

* * * Duplicate Titles * * *

Sec. 10. 23 V.S.A. § 2022 is amended to read:

§ 2022. DUPLICATE CERTIFICATE

(a) If a certificate of title is lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed or becomes illegible, the first lienholder or, if none, the owner or legal representative of

the owner named in the certificate, as shown by the records of the Commissioner, shall promptly make application for and may obtain a duplicate title upon furnishing information satisfactory to the Commissioner. ~~It~~ The duplicate title shall be mailed or, if the person is at a Department of Motor Vehicles location, hand delivered to the first lienholder named in ~~it~~ the title or, if none, to the owner.

* * *

Sec. 11. 23 V.S.A. § 3801 is amended to read:

§ 3801. DEFINITIONS

Except when the context otherwise requires, as used in this chapter:

* * *

(20) “Title or certificate of title” means a written instrument or document that certifies ownership of a vessel, snowmobile, or all-terrain vehicle and is issued by the Commissioner or equivalent official of another jurisdiction.

* * *

Sec. 12. 23 V.S.A. § 3815 is amended to read:

§ 3815. DUPLICATE CERTIFICATE

(a) If a certificate of title is lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed or becomes illegible, the first lienholder or, if none, the owner or legal representative of the owner named in the certificate of title, as shown by the records of the Commissioner, shall promptly make application for and may obtain a duplicate title upon furnishing information satisfactory to the Commissioner. ~~It~~ The duplicate title shall be mailed or, if the person is at a Department of Motor Vehicles location, hand delivered to the first lienholder named in ~~it~~ the title or, if none, to the owner.

* * *

* * * Title Appeals * * *

Sec. 13. 23 V.S.A. § 2005 is amended to read:

§ 2005. APPEAL

A person aggrieved by an act or omission of the Commissioner under this chapter may appeal to the Civil Division of the Washington Unit of the Superior Court ~~for Washington County~~ in the same manner as is provided for in other civil actions.

* * * Abandoned Motor Vehicles * * *

Sec. 14. 23 V.S.A. § 2012 is amended to read:

§ 2012. EXEMPTED VEHICLES

No certificate of title need be obtained for:

* * *

(2) a vehicle:

(A) owned by a manufacturer or dealer and held for sale, even though incidentally moved on the highway or used for purposes of testing or demonstration; or

(B) used by an educational institution approved by the Agency of Education for driver training purposes; or

(C) a vehicle used by a manufacturer solely for testing;

* * *

Sec. 15. 23 V.S.A. § 2158 is amended to read:

§ 2158. FEES FOR TOWING; PUBLIC PROPERTY; FUNDING

(a)(1) A towing service may charge a fee of up to ~~\$125.00~~ \$250.00 for towing an abandoned motor vehicle from public property under the provisions of sections 2151–2157 of this subchapter.

(2) This fee shall be paid to:

(A) ~~the a~~ towing service upon the issuance by the Department of Motor Vehicles of a certificate of abandoned motor ~~vehicles~~ vehicle under section 2156 of this title; or

(B) the Agency of Transportation if the Agency has a vehicle towed from a State right-of-way and submits proof acceptable to the Commissioner that the Agency has paid a towing service to tow the vehicle from the State right-of-way.

(3) The Commissioner of Motor Vehicles shall notify the Commissioner of Finance and Management, who shall issue payment to the towing service or Agency of Transportation, as applicable, for vehicles removed from public property.

* * *

* * * Diesel Fuel Tax * * *

Sec. 16. 23 V.S.A. § 3015 is amended to read:

§ 3015. COMPUTATION AND PAYMENT OF TAX

(a) Each report required under section 3014 of this title from licensed distributors, dealers, or users shall be accompanied by evidence of an electronic funds transfer payment or a remittance payable to the Department of Motor Vehicles for the amount of tax due, which shall be computed and transmitted in the following manner:

* * *

~~(3)(A)(b)(1)~~ Distributors and dealers filing a report required under subsection 3014(a) of this title shall transmit payment of taxes due to the Department of Motor Vehicles by means of an electronic funds transfer.

~~(B)(2)~~ Users filing a report required under subsection 3014(b) of this title shall transmit payment of taxes due to the Department of Motor Vehicles by means of an electronic funds transfer payment or by a remittance through the U.S. mail. If a remittance is sent through the U.S. mail properly addressed to the Department of Motor Vehicles, it shall be deemed received on the date shown by the postmark on the envelope containing the report only for purposes of avoiding penalty and interest. In the event a mailing date is affixed to the envelope by a machine owned by or under the control of the person submitting the report and the U.S. Post Office has corrected or changed the date stamped thereon by causing the official U.S. Post Office postmark to also be imprinted on the envelope, the date shown by the official Post Office postmark shall be the accepted date if different from the original postmark.

~~(4)(c)~~ All taxes, interest, user license fees, and penalties collected by the Department of Motor Vehicles under this chapter shall be paid immediately to the State Treasurer and credited to the Transportation Fund.

~~(5)(d)~~ Notwithstanding ~~subdivision (4)~~ subsection (c) of this section, the one cent per gallon fee imposed by this chapter shall be deposited into the Petroleum Cleanup Fund established by 10 V.S.A. § 1941. These fees shall be deemed the petroleum distributor licensing fee established by 10 V.S.A. § 1942.

* * * Purchase and Use Tax * * *

Sec. 17. 32 V.S.A. § 8902 is amended to read:

§ 8902. DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise expressly provided, as used in this chapter:

* * *

(4)(A) “Purchase price” for a vehicle that is purchased outright means the gross consideration, exclusive of the tax hereby imposed, that is to be paid for the motor vehicle, expressed in terms of U.S. currency as of the time of the sale, and shall include the any cash consideration payment, if any, plus as well as the value of any services or property given or to be given, or both, in exchange for the motor vehicle.

~~(B) In the case of a lease, the purchase price shall mean~~ “Purchase price” for a leased vehicle means an amount computed by subtracting the lease end value of the motor vehicle from the original acquisition cost of the motor vehicle. For purposes of this subdivision ~~(4)(B)~~, the original acquisition cost of a motor vehicle is the gross consideration amount that the lessee would pay for the motor vehicle if the lessee purchased the motor vehicle on the date of execution of the lease contract, as stated in the lease contract or worksheet, and the lease end value is the value of the motor vehicle at the end of the lease period, as stated in the lease contract or worksheet or as determined under section 8907 of this title.

(5)(A) “Taxable cost” means the purchase price as defined in subdivision (4) of this section or the taxable cost as determined under section 8907 of this title.

(B) For any purchaser who has paid tax on the purchase or use of a motor vehicle that was sold or traded by the purchaser or for which the purchaser received payment under a contract of insurance, the taxable cost of the replacement motor vehicle other than a leased vehicle shall exclude:

* * *

(ii)(I) The amount received from the sale of a motor vehicle last registered or titled in the seller’s name, ~~the amount which shall not to exceed~~ the clean trade-in value of the same make, type, model, and year of manufacture as designated by the manufacturer and as shown in the J.D. Power Values, or any comparable publication, provided the sale occurs within three months after the taxable purchase. The Commissioner may develop a process to determine the value of vehicles that do not have a clean trade-in value in J.D. Power Values.

(II) ~~However, this~~ The three-month period shall be extended day-for-day for any time that a member of ~~a guard unit~~ the National Guard or of the U.S. Armed Forces, as defined in 38 U.S.C. § 101(10), spends outside Vermont due to activation or deployment and an additional 60 days following the individual’s return from activation or deployment.

(III) The amount shall be reported on forms supplied by the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles.

* * *

(13) “Gross vehicle weight rating” and “GVWR” mean the value specified by the manufacturer of a vehicle as the maximum loaded weight of the vehicle.

(14) “Month” means a period of 30 days.

(15) “Trailer” has the same meaning as in 23 V.S.A. § 4(40) and includes a “semi-trailer,” as that term is defined in 23 V.S.A. § 4(40).

(16) “Trailer coach” has the same meaning as in 23 V.S.A. § 4(41).

(17) “Year” means a period of 365 days.

Sec. 18. 32 V.S.A. § 8903 is amended to read:

§ 8903. TAX IMPOSED

(a)(1) There is hereby imposed upon the purchase in Vermont of a motor vehicle or trailer by a resident a tax at the time of such purchase, payable as hereinafter provided pursuant to this chapter. The amount of the tax shall be six percent of the taxable cost of a:

* * *

(C) motor home as defined in subdivision 8902(11) of this title or trailer coach as defined in subdivision 8902(16) of this title; or

(D) motor vehicle weighing with a gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) of up to ~~10,099~~ 13,500 pounds, registered pursuant to 23 V.S.A. § 367, other than a farm truck.

(2) For any other motor vehicle or trailer, it shall be six percent of the taxable cost of the motor vehicle or trailer or \$2,486.00 for each motor vehicle or trailer, whichever is smaller, except that pleasure cars and trailers that are purchased, leased, or otherwise acquired for use in short-term rentals shall be subject to taxation under subsection (d) of this section.

(b)(1) There is hereby imposed upon the use within this State a tax of six percent of the taxable cost of a:

* * *

(C) motor home as defined in subdivision 8902(11) of this title or trailer coach as defined in subdivision 8902(16) of this title; or

(D) ~~motor vehicle weighing with a GVWR of up to 10,099~~ 13,500 pounds, registered pursuant to 23 V.S.A. § 367, other than a farm truck.

(2) For any other motor vehicle or trailer, it shall be six percent of the taxable cost of the motor vehicle or trailer or \$2,486.00 for each motor vehicle or trailer, whichever is smaller, by a person at the time of first registering or transferring a registration to ~~such~~ the motor vehicle or trailer payable as hereinafter provided pursuant to this chapter, except no use tax shall be payable ~~hereunder~~ pursuant to this subsection if the tax imposed by subsection (a) of this section has been paid, or the vehicle is a pleasure car or trailer that was purchased, leased, or otherwise acquired for use in short-term rentals, in which case the vehicle shall be subject to taxation under subsection (d) of this section.

* * *

(g)(1) There is hereby imposed upon the titling in this State a tax at the rate provided for in subsection (a) or (b) of this section of the taxable cost of a:

* * *

(C) motor home as defined in subdivision 8902(11) of this title or trailer coach as defined in subdivision 8902(16) of this title; or

(D) ~~motor vehicle weighing with a GVWR of up to 10,099~~ 13,500 pounds, registered pursuant to 23 V.S.A. § 367, other than a farm truck.

(2) For any other motor vehicle or trailer, it shall be at the rate provided for in subsection (a) or (b) of this section and paid by a person at the time of obtaining a certificate of title to the vehicle or trailer, except no tax shall be payable ~~hereunder~~ pursuant to this section if the tax imposed by subsection (a) or (b) of this section has been paid, or the vehicle is a pleasure car or trailer that was purchased, leased, or otherwise acquired for use in short-term rentals, in which case the vehicle shall be subject to taxation under subsection (d) of this section.

* * * Operation of Snowmobiles * * *

Sec. 19. 23 V.S.A. § 3207 is amended to read:

§ 3207. PENALTIES AND REVOCATION OR SUSPENSION OF
REGISTRATION

* * *

(c) A person who violates any of the following sections of this title shall be subject to a civil penalty of \$135.00 for each violation:

~~§ 3202 operation of an unregistered snowmobile~~

* * *

(g) A person who violates the provisions of section 3202 of this chapter shall be subject to a civil penalty of \$450.00 for a first offense and \$500.00 for a second or subsequent offense within a three-year period.

(h) The Commissioner or ~~his or her~~ the Commissioner's authorized agent may suspend or revoke the registration of any snowmobile registered in this State and repossess the number and certificate to it, when ~~he or she~~ the Commissioner is satisfied that:

* * *

(h)(i) Civil penalties established under this section shall be mandatory and may shall not be reduced.

* * * Commercial Driver's Licenses * * *

Sec. 20. 23 V.S.A. § 4107 is amended to read:

§ 4107. COMMERCIAL DRIVER'S LICENSE REQUIRED

* * *

(d)(1) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, during an emergency declared by the Governor, an employee of a State agency or a Vermont municipality may operate a commercial motor vehicle with a weight of 26,001 or more pounds without being required to hold a commercial driver's license while the emergency or emergency condition is ongoing if:

(A) expressly permitted to do so pursuant to the terms of the Governor's declaration; and

(B) the individual is performing official duties or activities related to the execution of emergency governmental functions pursuant to 49 C.F.R. 383.3(d)(2).

(2) An individual operating a vehicle pursuant to the provisions of this subsection shall have a valid operator's license issued pursuant to chapter 9 of this title or the applicable laws of another state.

(3) As used in this subsection, "emergency" means a situation, condition, or event that involves significant imminent or ongoing risk to public health and safety, infrastructure, or property.

Sec. 21. 23 V.S.A. § 4110 is amended to read:

§ 4110. APPLICATION FOR COMMERCIAL DRIVER'S LICENSE OR
COMMERCIAL LEARNER'S PERMIT

(a) The application for a commercial driver's license or commercial learner's permit shall include the following:

* * *

(8)(A) The applicable fee for the commercial driver's license being applied for. The four-year fee for a commercial driver's license shall be \$108.00. The two-year fee shall be \$72.00. The one-year fee for a nondomiciled commercial driver's license shall be \$40.00. In those instances where the applicant surrenders a valid Vermont Class D license, the total fees due shall be reduced by:

* * *

* * * Motorboat Validation Stickers * * *

Sec. 22. 23 V.S.A. § 3305 is amended to read:

§ 3305. FEES

* * *

(b)(1) Annually or biennially, the owner of each motorboat required to be registered by this State shall file an application for a number with the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles on forms approved by ~~him or her~~ the Commissioner.

(2) The application shall be signed by the owner of the motorboat and shall be accompanied by:

(A) an annual fee of \$31.00, or a biennial fee of \$57.00, for a motorboat in class A; ~~by~~

(B) an annual fee of \$49.00, or a biennial fee of \$93.00, for a motorboat in class 1; ~~by~~

(C) an annual fee of \$80.00, or a biennial fee of \$155.00, for a motorboat in class 2; ~~by~~ or

(D) an annual fee of \$153.00, or a biennial fee of \$303.00, for a motorboat in class 3.

(3)(A) Upon receipt of the application in approved form, the Commissioner shall enter the application upon the records of the Department of Motor Vehicles and issue to the applicant a registration certificate stating the number awarded to the motorboat and the name and address of the owner.

(B) The owner shall paint on or attach to each side of the bow of the motorboat the identification number in ~~such~~ the manner as ~~may be~~ prescribed by rules of the Commissioner in order that it may be clearly visible.

Validation stickers shall be placed within six inches preceding the registration number on the port side of the motorboat and within six inches following the registration number on the starboard side of the motorboat.

(C) The registration shall be void one year from the first day of the month following the month of issue in the case of annual registrations or void two years from the first day of the month following the month of issue in the case of biennial registrations.

(D) A motorboat of less than 10 horsepower used as a tender to a registered motorboat shall be deemed registered, at no additional cost, and shall have painted or attached to both sides of the bow the same registration number as the registered motorboat with the number "1" after the number.

(E) The number shall be maintained in legible condition.

(F) The registration certificate shall be pocket size and shall be available at all times for inspection on the motorboat for which issued, whenever the motorboat is in operation.

(G) A duplicate registration may be obtained upon payment of a fee of \$3.00 to the Commissioner.

(H) Registration fees shall be allocated in accordance with section 3319 of this title.

(c) ~~A person engaged in the business of selling or exchanging~~ dealer in motorboats, as defined in subdivision 4(8) of this title, of a type otherwise required to be registered by this subchapter shall register and obtain registration certificates for use as described under subdivision (1) of this subsection, subject to the requirements of chapter 7 of this title. A manufacturer of motorboats may register and obtain registration certificates under this section.

(1) A dealer motorboat registration number may be used:

(A) for the purpose of testing or adjusting motorboats in the immediate vicinity of ~~his or her~~ the dealer's place of business;

* * *

(C) for demonstration when the prospective purchaser is operating the motorboat and is not accompanied by the dealer or ~~his or her~~ the dealer's employee, but not for more than three days;

* * *

(4) The Commissioner shall issue a registration certificate of number for each identifying number awarded to the dealer in the manner described in

subsection ~~(a)~~(b) of this section, except that a motorboat shall not be described in the certificate. A dealer's registration certificate expires one year from the first day of the month of issuance.

(5) A dealer's identifying number shall be displayed as required by subsection ~~(a)~~(b) of this section except that the number may be temporarily attached.

* * *

(d)(1) Registration of a motorboat ends when the owner transfers title to another. The former owner shall immediately return directly to the Commissioner the registration certificate previously assigned to the transferred motorboat with the date of sale and the name and residence of the new owner endorsed on the back of the certificate.

(2) When a person transfers the ownership of a registered motorboat to another, files a new application, and pays a fee of \$6.00, ~~he or she~~ the person may have registered in ~~his or her~~ the person's name another motorboat of the same class for the remainder of the registration period without payment of any additional registration fee. However, if the fee for the registration of the motorboat sought to be registered is greater than the registration fee for the transferred motorboat, the applicant shall pay the difference between the fee first paid and the fee for the class of motorboat sought to be registered.

* * *

(g) The owner shall notify the Commissioner of the transfer of any part of the owner's interest other than the creation of a security interest in a motorboat numbered in this State under subsections ~~(a) and (b) and (c)~~ of this section or of the destruction or abandonment of the motorboat, within 15 days after the transfer, destruction, or abandonment. The transfer, destruction, or abandonment shall end the certificate of number for the motorboat except that in the case of a transfer of a part interest that does not affect the owner's right to operate the motorboat, the transfer shall not end the certificate of number.

(h) Any holder of a registration certificate shall notify the Commissioner within 15 days if ~~his or her~~ the holder's address ceases to be the address appearing on the certificate and shall, as a part of the notification, furnish the Commissioner with ~~his or her~~ the holder's new address. The Commissioner may provide by rule for the surrender of the certificate bearing the former address and its replacement with a certificate bearing the new address or for the alteration of an outstanding certificate to show the new address of the holder.

* * *

* * * Personal Flotation Devices * * *

Sec. 23. 23 V.S.A. § 3306 is amended to read:

§ 3306. LIGHTS AND EQUIPMENT

* * *

(b)(1) Personal flotation devices. Each vessel, except sailboards, shall, consistent with federal regulations, carry for each individual aboard at least one wearable U.S. Coast Guard-approved personal flotation device that is in good and serviceable condition and capable of being used in accordance with the U.S. Coast Guard approval label.

* * *

(4) Cold weather.

(A) Except as otherwise provided pursuant to subdivision (B) of this subdivision (b)(4), on or before May 1 of each year and on or after November 1 of each year, all individuals aboard a vessel, while under way and the individual is on an open deck, shall wear a properly secured wearable U.S. Coast Guard-approved personal flotation device as intended by the manufacturer.

(B) The requirements of this subdivision (b)(4) shall not apply to an individual who is:

(i) aboard a vessel that is located in water that is not more than three feet deep; and

(ii) actively engaged in hunting or bow fishing and who holds a valid license issued under 10 V.S.A. part 4.

(5) Inspected commercial vessels. U.S. Coast Guard-inspected commercial vessels shall be exempt from the provisions of this subsection.

* * *

* * * Kei Vehicles * * *

Sec. 24. 23 V.S.A. § 4 is amended to read:

§ 4. DEFINITIONS

Except as may otherwise be provided by law, and unless the context otherwise requires in statutes relating to motor vehicles and enforcement of the law regulating vehicles, as provided in this title and 20 V.S.A. part 5, the following definitions shall apply:

* * *

(28) “Pleasure car” ~~shall include~~ includes all motor vehicles not otherwise defined in this title and ~~shall include~~ includes plug-in electric vehicles, battery electric vehicles, or plug-in hybrid electric vehicles as defined pursuant to subdivision (85) of this section, and kei vehicles as defined pursuant to subdivision (90) of this section.

* * *

(72) “Farm truck” means a motor truck or kei truck that, at the option of the owner, may be registered under the provisions of subsection 367(f) of this title or may be unregistered when used in accordance with subsection 370(b) of this title.

* * *

(89) “Kei truck” means a kei vehicle that is designed, used, or maintained primarily for the transportation of property.

(90) “Kei vehicle” means a motor vehicle that has four wheels, an engine displacement of 660 cubic centimeters or less, an overall length of 130 inches or less, an overall height of 78 inches or less, and an overall width of 60 inches or less.

Sec. 25. 23 V.S.A. § 1044 is added to read:

§ 1044. OPERATION OF KEI VEHICLES

(a) A kei vehicle registered as a pleasure car shall be subject to all provisions of this title that are applicable to pleasure cars.

(b) A kei truck registered as a farm truck shall be subject to all provisions of this title that are applicable to farm trucks.

(c) The Traffic Committee and political subdivisions of this State shall not adopt any rules or ordinances that would have the effect of prohibiting:

(1) a kei vehicle that is registered as a pleasure car from being operated in the same manner and locations as other pleasure cars; and

(2) a kei truck that is registered as a farm truck from being operated in the same manner and locations as other farm trucks.

* * * Inspection Manual * * *

Sec. 26. INSPECTION MANUAL; AMENDMENT

(a)(1) The Department of Motor Vehicles shall amend the inspection manual to increase its focus on vehicle conditions that constitute genuine safety issues; eliminate outdated procedures; and provide clear, consistent guidance for both inspection mechanics and members of the public.

(2) It is the intent of the General Assembly that the amendments to the inspection manual adopted pursuant to this section shall ensure that:

(A) the inspection manual only requires failure of an inspection when, as determined by the Commissioner, the condition of a vehicle system or component constitutes an immediate safety risk; and

(B) a vehicle owner shall be advised of conditions of vehicle systems and components that do not constitute an immediate safety risk but may become a safety risk at some time in the future.

(3) In preparing the amendments to the inspection manual, the Department shall specifically determine whether amendments to the provisions relating to the following vehicle systems and components are necessary to comply with the legislative intent set forth in subdivision (2) of this subsection:

(A) tires;

(B) power steering;

(C) suspension;

(D) brake rotors;

(E) lighting;

(F) electrical systems and components;

(G) windshield;

(H) windows;

(I) windshield wipers;

(J) vehicle body; and

(K) in the discretion of the Commissioner, any other vehicle systems or components.

(4) In preparing the amendments to the inspection manual, the Department shall determine whether any tests or procedures require amendment or elimination, including the on-highway road test for brakes and the headlamp aiming test.

(5) In preparing the amendments to the inspection manual, the Department shall provide additional visual guidance regarding when certain conditions warrant failure of an inspection.

(b) On or before August 1, 2026, the Department of Motor Vehicles shall:

(1) file with the Secretary of State pursuant to the provisions of 3 V.S.A.

§ 838 proposed amendments to the Inspection of Motor Vehicles rules (CVR 14-050-022) necessary to implement the provisions of this section; and

(2) adopt emergency rules pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 844 to implement the provisions of this section while permanent rule amendments are pending, which shall be deemed to have met the standard for emergency rulemaking set forth in 3 V.S.A. § 844(a).

(c) The Commissioner of Motor Vehicles shall submit to the House and Senate Committees on Transportation the following reports regarding the rule amendments proposed pursuant to this section:

(1) Not more than five days after the Department files proposed rule amendments to the Inspection of Motor Vehicles rules (CVR 14-050-022) with the Secretary of State pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 838, the Commissioner shall submit a summary of the proposed amendments and an annotated copy of the inspection manual that shows the proposed changes.

(2) Not more than five days after the Department files final proposed rule amendments to the Inspection of Motor Vehicles rules (CVR 14-050-022) with the Secretary of State and Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 841, the Commissioner shall submit a summary of the proposed amendments, an annotated copy of the inspection manual that shows the proposed changes, and a copy of the responsiveness summary, if any, that is submitted with the final proposed rules pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 841(b)(2).

(3) Not more than five days after the Department files the adopted rule amendments to the Inspection of Motor Vehicles rules (CVR 14-050-022) with the Secretary of State and Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 843, the Commissioner shall submit a brief written statement of the date on which the rule amendments were submitted pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 843, the effective date of the rule amendments, and any changes to the final proposed rule that were approved by the Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules.

* * * Limited-Use Specialty Vehicles * * *

Sec. 27. 23 V.S.A. § 4 is amended to read:

§ 4. DEFINITIONS

Except as may otherwise be provided by law, and unless the context otherwise requires in statutes relating to motor vehicles and enforcement of the law regulating vehicles, as provided in this title and 20 V.S.A. part 5, the following definitions shall apply:

* * *

(91) "Limited-use specialty vehicle" means a motor vehicle that is:

(A) built by either:

(i) a manufacturer that manufactures not more than 325 vehicles per year for sale in the United States; or

(ii) an individual and not for resale;

(B) maintained solely for occasional transportation, including exhibitions, club activities, parades, tours, and other similar uses; and

(C) not used for daily transportation.

Sec. 28. 23 V.S.A. § 375 is added to read:

§ 375. LIMITED-USE SPECIALTY VEHICLES

(a) The Commissioner shall issue a certificate of registration for not more than 20 limited-use specialty vehicles per year.

(b) A vehicle that has been registered as a limited-use specialty vehicle shall not be permitted to be registered as any other type of vehicle.

(c) The annual fee for registration of a limited-use specialty vehicle shall be \$26.00.

(d) A vehicle registered under this section may be used on public highways:

(1) in exhibitions, club activities, parades, and other functions of public interest; and

(2) for occasional transportation of passengers or property, not to exceed one day per week.

Sec. 29. 23 V.S.A. § 1222 is amended to read:

§ 1222. INSPECTION OF REGISTERED VEHICLES

* * *

(f) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, a limited-use specialty vehicle registered pursuant to section 375 of this title shall undergo a safety inspection each year but shall not be required to undergo a visual emissions inspection or OBD systems inspection.

* * * License Plates * * *

Sec. 30. 23 V.S.A. § 511 is amended to read:

§ 511. MANNER OF DISPLAY

(a) Number plates.

(1) A motor vehicle operated on any highway shall have displayed in a conspicuous place either one or two number plates as the Commissioner may require. ~~Such~~ The number plates shall be furnished by the Commissioner and shall show the number assigned to ~~such~~ the vehicle by the Commissioner. If only one number plate is furnished, the ~~same~~ plate shall be securely attached to the rear of the vehicle. If two are furnished, one shall be securely attached to the rear and one to the front of the vehicle.

(2)(A) ~~The number~~ Number plates shall be kept entirely unobscured, and the numerals and letters ~~thereon~~ on the plates shall be plainly legible at all times.

(B) Numerals and letters on number plates shall not be colored, tinted, or changed in any manner from their appearance at the time the plate was issued.

(C) A person shall not cover or obscure any numerals or letters on a number plate with any material or substance.

(3) ~~They~~ Number plates shall be kept horizontal, shall be so fastened as not to swing, excepting, however, there may be installed on a motor truck or truck tractor a device that would, upon contact with a substantial object, permit the rear number plate to swing toward the front of the vehicle, provided such device automatically returns the number plate to its original rigid position after contact is released, and the ground clearance of the lower edges thereof shall be established by the Commissioner pursuant to the provisions of 3 V.S.A. chapter 25.

* * *

(e) Temporary and in-transit registration plates. A motor vehicle issued a temporary or in-transit registration plate under sections 312, 458, 463, and 516–518 of this title operated on any highway shall have the temporary or in-transit registration plate displayed horizontally in a conspicuous place on the rear of the vehicle, including in the rear window. The temporary or in-transit registration plate shall be kept entirely unobscured, and the numerals and letters thereon shall be plainly legible at all times as provided pursuant to subsection (a) of this section.

* * * Motorcycle Exhaust Requirements * * *

Sec. 31. 23 V.S.A. § 1221 is amended to read:

§ 1221. CONDITION OF VEHICLE; EXCESSIVE NOISE

(a) A motor vehicle, operated on any highway, shall be in good mechanical condition and shall be properly equipped.

(b)(1) An individual shall not operate on a highway a motorcycle manufactured after December 31, 1985, that is not labeled in compliance with 40 C.F.R. § 205.158 and equipped with a muffler that meets the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 205.169.

(2) The prohibition in subdivision (1) of this subsection shall not apply when a motorcycle is operated in a race, contest, or demonstration of speed or skill at an authorized public exhibition held in accordance with applicable State or municipal law and land use permits.

(3) A motorcycle that does not meet the requirements of subdivision (1) of this subsection shall not pass an inspection required under section 1222 of this title.

* * * Effective Dates * * *

Sec. 32. EFFECTIVE DATES

(a) Secs. 1 (nondriver identification cards), 3 (detained individuals' operator's licenses), and 5 (detained individuals' learner's permits) shall take effect on January 1, 2027.

(b) This section and the remaining sections of this act shall take effect on July 1, 2026.

(Committee vote: 5-0-0)

Reported favorably by Senator Chittenden for the Committee on Finance.

The Committee recommends that the bill ought to pass when amended as recommended by the Committee on Transportation.

(Committee vote: 7-0-0)

Amendment to recommendation of amendment of the Committee on Transportation to S.326 to be offered by Senators Westman, Brennan, Harrison, Perchlik, and White

Senators Westman, Brennan, Harrison, Perchlik, and White move to substitute an amendment for the committee report of the Committee on Transportation and that the bill be amended by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

* * * Nondriver Identification Cards * * *

Sec. 1. 23 V.S.A. § 115 is amended to read:

§ 115. NONDRIVER IDENTIFICATION CARDS

(a)(1) Any Vermont resident who does not have an operator's license may make application to the Commissioner and be issued an identification card that is attested by the Commissioner as to true name, correct age, residential address unless the listing of another address is requested by the applicant or is otherwise authorized by law, and any other identifying data as the Commissioner may require that shall include, in the case of minor applicants, the written consent of the applicant's parent, guardian, or other person standing in loco parentis.

* * *

(4) An individual shall not hold at the same time an operator's license and a nondriver identification card issued pursuant to this section.

* * *

(g)(1) An identification card issued to a first-time applicant and any subsequent renewals by that ~~person~~ individual shall contain a photograph or imaged likeness of the applicant.

(2) The photographic identification card shall be available at a location designated by the Commissioner.

~~(3)(A) An~~ Except as otherwise provided pursuant to subdivision (B) of this subdivision (g)(3), an individual issued an identification card under this subsection that contains an imaged likeness section may renew the individual's identification card by mail.

~~(B) Except that a renewal by an individual required to have a photograph or imaged likeness under this subsection must be made~~ An identification card issued pursuant to this section shall be renewed in person so that an updated imaged likeness of the individual is obtained not less often than at least once every nine years to permit an updated photograph or imaged likeness of the holder to be obtained.

* * *

~~(k) At the option of the applicant,~~ An applicant shall surrender the applicant's valid Vermont license may be surrendered in connection with an application for an identification card pursuant to this section. In those instances, the fee due under subsection (a) of this section shall be reduced by:

* * *

(m)(1) An individual who is sentenced to serve a period of imprisonment of six months or more ~~committed to the custody of the Commissioner of~~

Corrections in a correctional facility and who is eligible for a nondriver identification card under the requirements of this section shall, upon proper application and submission of the documentation required for a non-REAL ID or REAL ID identification card and in advance of release from a correctional facility, be provided with a nondriver identification card for a fee of \$0.00.

(2) As part of reentry planning, the Department of Corrections shall inquire with the individual to be released about the individual's desire to obtain a nondriver identification card, operator's license, or any driving credential replacement learner's permit, if eligible, and inform the individual about the differences, including any costs to the individual.

(3) If the individual desires a nondriver identification card, the Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles to provide an identification card for the individual at the time of release.

(n)(1) If an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility is eligible for a nondriver identification card under the requirements of this section, the Department of Corrections, as soon as reasonably practicable, shall obtain the documentation required for a non-REAL ID or REAL ID nondriver identification card and shall provide the individual with the documentation at the time of release.

(2) The application shall include the post-release mailing address of the individual and proof that the individual is a resident of Vermont following release from the correctional facility.

(3) Upon proper application and submission of all required documentation following release from the correctional facility, an individual who was detained for six months or more in a correctional facility shall be provided with a nondriver identification card for a fee of \$0.00.

(4) The Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles regarding the documentation required for an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility to obtain a non-REAL ID or REAL ID nondriver identification card.

(o) The Commissioner shall provide a form that, upon the individual's execution, shall serve as a document of an anatomical gift under 18 V.S.A. chapter 110. An indicator shall be placed on the nondriver identification card of any individual who has executed an anatomical gift form in accordance with this section.

(p) As used in this section, "correctional facility" has the same meaning as in 28 V.S.A. § 3.

* * * Operator's Licenses * * *

Sec. 2. 23 V.S.A. § 613 is amended to read:

§ 613. REPLACEMENT LICENSE

* * *

(c)(1) An individual who is sentenced to serve a period of imprisonment of six months or more in a correctional facility who holds an unexpired license issued under the provisions of this subchapter or who held a Vermont operator's license that expired not more than three years prior shall:

(A) be eligible to apply for a replacement license pursuant to the provisions of this section; and

(B) upon proper application and submission of the documentation required for a non-REAL ID or REAL ID and in advance of release from a correctional facility, be provided with a replacement operator's license for a fee of \$0.00.

(2) The application shall include the post-release mailing address of the individual and proof that the individual will be a resident of Vermont following release from the correctional facility.

(3) As part of reentry planning, the Department of Corrections shall inquire with each individual regarding whether the individual would like to obtain a nondriver identification card, operator's license, or replacement learner's permit, if eligible, and shall provide the individual with information regarding required documentation and any associated costs.

(4) If an individual would like to obtain an operator's license pursuant to the provisions of this section and is eligible, the Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles to provide an operator's license to the individual at the time the individual is released from the correctional facility.

Sec. 3. 23 V.S.A. § 613 is amended to read:

§ 613. REPLACEMENT LICENSE

* * *

(d)(1) An individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility shall be eligible to apply for a replacement license pursuant to the provisions of this section if, at the time the individual submits an application to obtain a replacement license pursuant to this subsection, the individual:

(A) holds an unexpired license issued under the provisions of this subchapter; or

(B) held a Vermont operator's license that expired not more than three years prior.

(2) If an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility is eligible for a replacement operator's license under the requirements of this section, the Department of Corrections, as soon as reasonably practicable, shall obtain the documentation required for a non-REAL ID or REAL ID operator's license and shall provide the individual with the documentation at the time of release.

(3) The application shall include the post-release mailing address of the individual and proof that the individual is a resident of Vermont following release from the correctional facility.

(4) Upon proper application and submission of all required documentation following release from the correctional facility, an individual who was detained for six months or more in a correctional facility shall be provided with a replacement operator's license for a fee of \$0.00.

(5) The Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles regarding the documentation required for an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility to obtain a non-REAL ID or REAL ID replacement operator's license.

(e) As used in this section, "correctional facility" has the same meaning as in 28 V.S.A. § 3.

Sec. 4. 23 V.S.A. § 617 is amended to read:

§ 617. LEARNER'S PERMIT

* * *

(d)(1) An applicant shall pay \$24.00 to the Commissioner for each learner's permit or a duplicate or renewal thereof.

* * *

(4) A replacement learner's permit issued pursuant to subsection (g) of this section shall be issued for a fee of \$0.00.

* * *

(g)(1) An individual sentenced to serve a period of imprisonment of six months or more in a correctional facility who holds an unexpired learner's permit issued under the provisions of this section or who held a learner's

permit issued under the provisions of this section that expired not more than two years prior shall:

(A) be eligible to apply for a replacement learner's permit pursuant to the provisions of this section; and

(B) upon proper application and submission of all required documentation in advance of release from a correctional facility, be provided with a replacement learner's permit upon release.

(2) The application shall include the post-release mailing address of the individual and proof that the individual will be a resident of Vermont following release from the correctional facility.

(3) As part of reentry planning, the Department of Corrections shall inquire with each individual regarding whether the individual would like to obtain a nondriver identification card, operator's license, or replacement learner's permit, if eligible, and shall provide the individual with information regarding required documentation and any associated costs.

(4) If an individual would like to obtain a replacement learner's permit pursuant to the provisions of this section and is eligible, the Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles to provide a replacement learner's permit to the individual at the time the individual is released from the correctional facility.

Sec. 5. 23 V.S.A. § 617 is amended to read:

§ 617. LEARNER'S PERMIT

* * *

(h)(1) An individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility shall be eligible to apply for a replacement learner's permit pursuant to the provisions of this section if, at the time the individual submits an application to obtain a replacement learner's permit pursuant to this subsection, the individual:

(A) holds an unexpired learner's permit issued under the provisions of this section; or

(B) held a learner's permit issued under the provisions of this section that expired not more than two years prior.

(2) If an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility is eligible for a replacement learner's permit under the requirements of this section, the Department of Corrections, as soon as reasonably practicable, shall obtain the documentation required for a learner's

permit and shall provide the individual with the documentation at the time of release from the correctional facility.

(3) The application shall include the post-release mailing address of the individual and proof that the individual is a resident of Vermont following release from the correctional facility.

(4) Upon proper application and submission of all required documentation following release from the correctional facility, an individual who was detained for six months or more in a correctional facility shall be provided with a replacement learner's permit for a fee of \$0.00.

(5) The Department of Corrections shall coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles regarding the documentation required for an individual who is detained for six months or more in a correctional facility to obtain a replacement learner's permit.

(i) As used in this section, "correctional facility" has the same meaning as in 28 V.S.A. § 3.

Sec. 6. 28 V.S.A. § 102 is amended to read:

§ 102. COMMISSIONER OF CORRECTIONS; APPOINTMENT;
POWERS; RESPONSIBILITIES

* * *

(c) The Commissioner is charged with the following responsibilities:

* * *

(25) To coordinate with the Department of Motor Vehicles to provide eligible individuals with nondriver identification cards and documentation pursuant to 23 V.S.A. § 115(m) and (n), replacement operator's licenses and documentation pursuant to 23 V.S.A. § 613(c) and (d), and replacement learner's permits and documentation pursuant to 23 V.S.A. § 617(g) and (h).

* * * Insufficient Funds for Fees * * *

Sec. 7. 23 V.S.A. § 110 is amended to read:

§ 110. ~~BAD CHECKS~~ INSUFFICIENT FUNDS RECEIVED FOR FEES

(a) Whenever any check or electronic funds transfer, including a credit or debit charge, issued in payment of any fee or for any other purpose is tendered to the Department of Motor Vehicles and payment is not honored by the bank on which the check is drawn or entity to which the electronic funds transfer is submitted, the Commissioner shall send a written notice of its nonpayment to the maker or person presenting the check and if the check is not immediately

~~made good who provided insufficient funds and, if the required amounts are not promptly paid as required by the Commissioner,~~ the Commissioner shall suspend the license or registration of the person or persons. In no case shall the license or registration be reinstated until settlement has been made in full. Settlement in full shall also include the payment of any penalties assessed by the State Treasurer.

(b) The Commissioner may require payment for any transaction solely by certified check or in cash from persons whose licenses or registrations are under suspension pursuant to subsection (a) of this section or from persons who have repeatedly tendered checks or electronic payments to the Department that have not been honored ~~by the bank on which drawn.~~

* * *

* * * Penalties for Operation of Prohibited Vehicles in Smugglers' Notch * * *

Sec. 8. 23 V.S.A. § 1006b is amended to read:

§ 1006b. SMUGGLERS' NOTCH; WINTER CLOSURE OF VERMONT ROUTE 108; VEHICLE OPERATION PROHIBITED

* * *

(b) Vehicle operation prohibition.

* * *

(2) The employer of an operator who is operating a vehicle in the scope of employment and violates this subsection or the operator of a vehicle who is operating a vehicle for personal purposes and violates this subsection shall be subject to a civil penalty of ~~\$1,000.00~~ \$10,000.00 or, if the violation results in substantially impeding the flow of traffic on Vermont Route 108, a civil penalty of ~~\$2,000.00~~ \$20,000.00. For a second or subsequent conviction within a three-year period, the applicable penalty shall be doubled.

* * *

* * * Salvage Titles * * *

Sec. 9. 23 V.S.A. § 2091 is amended to read:

§ 2091. SALVAGE CERTIFICATES OF TITLE; FORWARDING OF PLATES AND TITLES OF CRUSHED VEHICLES

* * *

(b)(1) Except as provided in subsection (c) of this section, the application shall be accompanied by:

(~~+~~)(A) any certificate of title for the vehicle; and

(2)(B) any other information or documents that the Commissioner may reasonably require to establish ownership of the vehicle and the existence or nonexistence of any security interest in the vehicle.

(2)(A) Supporting documents used to transfer ownership of a vehicle to an insurer following payment of damages:

(i) shall not require a notarized signature;

(ii) may be signed electronically; and

(iii) may be printed on hard copy.

(B) As used in this subdivision (b)(2):

(i) “Signed electronically” means that a person, with the intent to sign the record, uses an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to or logically associated with a record and executed or adopted by a person. For purposes of this subdivision (b)(2), an electronic signature on a supporting document shall utilize a secure authentication system that identifies the signatory with a degree of certainty equivalent to or greater than level 2 as described in the National Institute of Standards and Technology’s June 2017 Digital Identity Guidelines, NIST Special Publication 800-63-3, Revision 3.

(ii) “Supporting documents” include bills of sale, title documents, odometer disclosure forms, and powers of attorney.

(C) An insurer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Department for any claims arising from the issuance of a certificate of title pursuant to this section.

* * *

* * * Duplicate Titles * * *

Sec. 10. 23 V.S.A. § 2022 is amended to read:

§ 2022. DUPLICATE CERTIFICATE

(a) If a certificate of title is lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed or becomes illegible, the first lienholder or, if none, the owner or legal representative of the owner named in the certificate, as shown by the records of the Commissioner, shall promptly make application for and may obtain a duplicate title upon furnishing information satisfactory to the Commissioner. ~~It~~ The duplicate title shall be mailed or, if the person is at a Department of Motor Vehicles location, hand delivered to the first lienholder named in ~~it~~ the title or, if none, to the owner.

* * *

Sec. 11. 23 V.S.A. § 3801 is amended to read:

§ 3801. DEFINITIONS

Except when the context otherwise requires, as used in this chapter:

* * *

(20) “Title or certificate of title” means a written instrument or document that certifies ownership of a vessel, snowmobile, or all-terrain vehicle and is issued by the Commissioner or equivalent official of another jurisdiction.

* * *

Sec. 12. 23 V.S.A. § 3815 is amended to read:

§ 3815. DUPLICATE CERTIFICATE

(a) If a certificate of title is lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed or becomes illegible, the first lienholder or, if none, the owner or legal representative of the owner named in the certificate of title, as shown by the records of the Commissioner, shall promptly make application for and may obtain a duplicate title upon furnishing information satisfactory to the Commissioner. ~~It~~ The duplicate title shall be mailed or, if the person is at a Department of Motor Vehicles location, hand delivered to the first lienholder named in ~~it~~ the title or, if none, to the owner.

* * *

* * * Title Appeals * * *

Sec. 13. 23 V.S.A. § 2005 is amended to read:

§ 2005. APPEAL

A person aggrieved by an act or omission of the Commissioner under this chapter may appeal to the Civil Division of the Washington Unit of the Superior Court ~~for Washington County~~ in the same manner as is provided for in other civil actions.

* * * Abandoned Motor Vehicles * * *

Sec. 14. 23 V.S.A. § 2012 is amended to read:

§ 2012. EXEMPTED VEHICLES

No certificate of title need be obtained for:

* * *

(2) a vehicle;

(A) owned by a manufacturer or dealer and held for sale, even though incidentally moved on the highway or used for purposes of testing or demonstration; or

(B) used by an educational institution approved by the Agency of Education for driver training purposes; or

(C) a vehicle used by a manufacturer solely for testing;

* * *

Sec. 15. 23 V.S.A. § 2158 is amended to read:

§ 2158. FEES FOR TOWING; PUBLIC PROPERTY; FUNDING

(a)(1) A towing service may charge a fee of up to ~~\$125.00~~ \$250.00 for towing an abandoned motor vehicle from public property under the provisions of sections 2151–2157 of this subchapter.

(2) This fee shall be paid to:

(A) ~~the a~~ a towing service upon the issuance by the Department of Motor Vehicles of a certificate of abandoned motor ~~vehicles~~ vehicle under section 2156 of this title; or

(B) the Agency of Transportation if the Agency has a vehicle towed from a State right-of-way and submits proof acceptable to the Commissioner that the Agency has paid a towing service to tow the vehicle from the State right-of-way.

(3) The Commissioner of Motor Vehicles shall notify the Commissioner of Finance and Management, who shall issue payment to the towing service or Agency of Transportation, as applicable, for vehicles removed from public property.

* * *

* * * Diesel Fuel Tax * * *

Sec. 16. 23 V.S.A. § 3015 is amended to read:

§ 3015. COMPUTATION AND PAYMENT OF TAX

(a) Each report required under section 3014 of this title from licensed distributors, dealers, or users shall be accompanied by evidence of an electronic funds transfer payment or a remittance payable to the Department of Motor Vehicles for the amount of tax due, which shall be computed and transmitted in the following manner:

* * *

~~(3)(A)(b)(1)~~ Distributors and dealers filing a report required under subsection 3014(a) of this title shall transmit payment of taxes due to the Department of Motor Vehicles by means of an electronic funds transfer.

~~(B)(2)~~ Users filing a report required under subsection 3014(b) of this title shall transmit payment of taxes due to the Department of Motor Vehicles by means of an electronic funds transfer payment or by a remittance through the U.S. mail. If a remittance is sent through the U.S. mail properly addressed to the Department of Motor Vehicles, it shall be deemed received on the date shown by the postmark on the envelope containing the report only for purposes of avoiding penalty and interest. In the event a mailing date is affixed to the envelope by a machine owned by or under the control of the person submitting the report and the U.S. Post Office has corrected or changed the date stamped thereon by causing the official U.S. Post Office postmark to also be imprinted on the envelope, the date shown by the official Post Office postmark shall be the accepted date if different from the original postmark.

~~(4)(c)~~ All taxes, interest, user license fees, and penalties collected by the Department of Motor Vehicles under this chapter shall be paid immediately to the State Treasurer and credited to the Transportation Fund.

~~(5)(d)~~ Notwithstanding ~~subdivision (4)~~ subsection (c) of this section, the one cent per gallon fee imposed by this chapter shall be deposited into the Petroleum Cleanup Fund established by 10 V.S.A. § 1941. These fees shall be deemed the petroleum distributor licensing fee established by 10 V.S.A. § 1942.

* * * Operation of Snowmobiles * * *

Sec. 17. 23 V.S.A. § 3207 is amended to read:

§ 3207. PENALTIES AND REVOCATION OR SUSPENSION OF REGISTRATION

* * *

(c) A person who violates any of the following sections of this title shall be subject to a civil penalty of \$135.00 for each violation:

~~§ 3202 operation of an unregistered snowmobile~~

* * *

(g) A person who violates the provisions of section 3202 of this chapter shall be subject to a civil penalty of \$450.00 for a first offense and \$500.00 for a second or subsequent offense within a three-year period.

(h) The Commissioner or ~~his or her~~ the Commissioner's authorized agent

may suspend or revoke the registration of any snowmobile registered in this State and repossess the number and certificate to it, when ~~he or she~~ the Commissioner is satisfied that:

* * *

~~(h)~~(i) Civil penalties established under this section shall be mandatory and ~~may~~ shall not be reduced.

* * * Commercial Driver's Licenses * * *

Sec. 18. 23 V.S.A. § 4107 is amended to read:

§ 4107. COMMERCIAL DRIVER'S LICENSE REQUIRED

* * *

(d)(1) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, during an emergency declared by the Governor, an employee of a State agency or a Vermont municipality may operate a commercial motor vehicle with a weight of 26,001 or more pounds without being required to hold a commercial driver's license while the emergency or emergency condition is ongoing if:

(A) expressly permitted to do so pursuant to the terms of the Governor's declaration; and

(B) the individual is performing official duties or activities related to the execution of emergency governmental functions pursuant to 49 C.F.R. 383.3(d)(2).

(2) An individual operating a vehicle pursuant to the provisions of this subsection shall have a valid operator's license issued pursuant to chapter 9 of this title or the applicable laws of another state.

(3) As used in this subsection, "emergency" means a situation, condition, or event that involves significant imminent or ongoing risk to public health and safety, infrastructure, or property.

Sec. 19. 23 V.S.A. § 4110 is amended to read:

§ 4110. APPLICATION FOR COMMERCIAL DRIVER'S LICENSE OR
COMMERCIAL LEARNER'S PERMIT

(a) The application for a commercial driver's license or commercial learner's permit shall include the following:

* * *

(8)(A) The applicable fee for the commercial driver's license being applied for. The four-year fee for a commercial driver's license shall be \$108.00. The two-year fee shall be \$72.00. The one-year fee for a

nondomiciled commercial driver's license shall be \$40.00. In those instances where the applicant surrenders a valid Vermont Class D license, the total fees due shall be reduced by:

* * *

* * * Motorboat Validation Stickers * * *

Sec. 20. 23 V.S.A. § 3305 is amended to read:

§ 3305. FEES

* * *

(b)(1) Annually or biennially, the owner of each motorboat required to be registered by this State shall file an application for a number with the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles on forms approved by ~~him or her~~ the Commissioner.

(2) The application shall be signed by the owner of the motorboat and shall be accompanied by:

(A) an annual fee of \$31.00, or a biennial fee of \$57.00, for a motorboat in class A; ~~by~~

(B) an annual fee of \$49.00, or a biennial fee of \$93.00, for a motorboat in class 1; ~~by~~

(C) an annual fee of \$80.00, or a biennial fee of \$155.00, for a motorboat in class 2; ~~by or~~

(D) an annual fee of \$153.00, or a biennial fee of \$303.00, for a motorboat in class 3.

(3)(A) Upon receipt of the application in approved form, the Commissioner shall enter the application upon the records of the Department of Motor Vehicles and issue to the applicant a registration certificate stating the number awarded to the motorboat and the name and address of the owner.

(B) The owner shall paint on or attach to each side of the bow of the motorboat the identification number in ~~such~~ the manner as ~~may be~~ prescribed by rules of the Commissioner in order that it may be clearly visible. Validation stickers shall be placed within six inches preceding the registration number on the port side of the motorboat and within six inches following the registration number on the starboard side of the motorboat.

(C) The registration shall be void one year from the first day of the month following the month of issue in the case of annual registrations or void two years from the first day of the month following the month of issue in the

case of biennial registrations.

(D) A motorboat of less than 10 horsepower used as a tender to a registered motorboat shall be deemed registered, at no additional cost, and shall have painted or attached to both sides of the bow the same registration number as the registered motorboat with the number "1" after the number.

(E) The number shall be maintained in legible condition.

(F) The registration certificate shall be pocket size and shall be available at all times for inspection on the motorboat for which issued, whenever the motorboat is in operation.

(G) A duplicate registration may be obtained upon payment of a fee of \$3.00 to the Commissioner.

(H) Registration fees shall be allocated in accordance with section 3319 of this title.

(c) ~~A person engaged in the business of selling or exchanging~~ dealer in motorboats, as defined in subdivision 4(8) of this title, of a type otherwise required to be registered by this subchapter shall register and obtain registration certificates for use as described under subdivision (1) of this subsection, subject to the requirements of chapter 7 of this title. A manufacturer of motorboats may register and obtain registration certificates under this section.

(1) A dealer motorboat registration number may be used:

(A) for the purpose of testing or adjusting motorboats in the immediate vicinity of ~~his or her~~ the dealer's place of business;

* * *

(C) for demonstration when the prospective purchaser is operating the motorboat and is not accompanied by the dealer or ~~his or her~~ the dealer's employee, but not for more than three days;

* * *

(4) The Commissioner shall issue a registration certificate of number for each identifying number awarded to the dealer in the manner described in subsection ~~(a)~~(b) of this section, except that a motorboat shall not be described in the certificate. A dealer's registration certificate expires one year from the first day of the month of issuance.

(5) A dealer's identifying number shall be displayed as required by subsection ~~(a)~~(b) of this section except that the number may be temporarily attached.

* * *

(d)(1) Registration of a motorboat ends when the owner transfers title to another. The former owner shall immediately return directly to the Commissioner the registration certificate previously assigned to the transferred motorboat with the date of sale and the name and residence of the new owner endorsed on the back of the certificate.

(2) When a person transfers the ownership of a registered motorboat to another, files a new application, and pays a fee of \$6.00, ~~he or she~~ the person may have registered in ~~his or her~~ the person's name another motorboat of the same class for the remainder of the registration period without payment of any additional registration fee. However, if the fee for the registration of the motorboat sought to be registered is greater than the registration fee for the transferred motorboat, the applicant shall pay the difference between the fee first paid and the fee for the class of motorboat sought to be registered.

* * *

(g) The owner shall notify the Commissioner of the transfer of any part of the owner's interest other than the creation of a security interest in a motorboat numbered in this State under subsections ~~(a) and (b) and (c)~~ of this section or of the destruction or abandonment of the motorboat, within 15 days after the transfer, destruction, or abandonment. The transfer, destruction, or abandonment shall end the certificate of number for the motorboat except that in the case of a transfer of a part interest that does not affect the owner's right to operate the motorboat, the transfer shall not end the certificate of number.

(h) Any holder of a registration certificate shall notify the Commissioner within 15 days if ~~his or her~~ the holder's address ceases to be the address appearing on the certificate and shall, as a part of the notification, furnish the Commissioner with ~~his or her~~ the holder's new address. The Commissioner may provide by rule for the surrender of the certificate bearing the former address and its replacement with a certificate bearing the new address or for the alteration of an outstanding certificate to show the new address of the holder.

* * *

* * * Personal Flotation Devices * * *

Sec. 21. 23 V.S.A. § 3306 is amended to read:

§ 3306. LIGHTS AND EQUIPMENT

* * *

(b)(1) Personal flotation devices. Each vessel, except sailboards, shall,

consistent with federal regulations, carry for each individual aboard at least one wearable U.S. Coast Guard-approved personal flotation device that is in good and serviceable condition and capable of being used in accordance with the U.S. Coast Guard approval label.

* * *

(4) Cold weather.

(A) Except as otherwise provided pursuant to subdivision (B) of this subdivision (b)(4), on or before May 1 of each year and on or after November 1 of each year, all individuals aboard a vessel, while under way and the individual is on an open deck, shall wear a properly secured wearable U.S. Coast Guard-approved personal flotation device as intended by the manufacturer.

(B) The requirements of this subdivision (b)(4) shall not apply to an individual who is:

(i) aboard a vessel that is located in water that is not more than three feet deep; and

(ii) actively engaged in hunting or bow fishing and who holds a valid license issued under 10 V.S.A. part 4.

(5) Inspected commercial vessels. U.S. Coast Guard-inspected commercial vessels shall be exempt from the provisions of this subsection.

* * *

* * * Kei Vehicles * * *

Sec. 22. 23 V.S.A. § 4 is amended to read:

§ 4. DEFINITIONS

Except as may otherwise be provided by law, and unless the context otherwise requires in statutes relating to motor vehicles and enforcement of the law regulating vehicles, as provided in this title and 20 V.S.A. part 5, the following definitions shall apply:

* * *

(28) “Pleasure car” ~~shall include~~ includes all motor vehicles not otherwise defined in this title and ~~shall include~~ includes plug-in electric vehicles, battery electric vehicles, or plug-in hybrid electric vehicles as defined pursuant to subdivision (85) of this section, and kei vehicles as defined pursuant to subdivision (90) of this section.

* * *

(72) “Farm truck” means a motor truck or kei truck that, at the option of the owner, may be registered under the provisions of subsection 367(f) of this title or may be unregistered when used in accordance with subsection 370(b) of this title.

* * *

(89) “Kei truck” means a kei vehicle that is designed, used, or maintained primarily for the transportation of property.

(90) “Kei vehicle” means a motor vehicle that has four wheels, an engine displacement of 660 cubic centimeters or less, an overall length of 130 inches or less, an overall height of 78 inches or less, and an overall width of 60 inches or less.

Sec. 23. 23 V.S.A. § 1044 is added to read:

§ 1044. OPERATION OF KEI VEHICLES

(a) A kei vehicle registered as a pleasure car shall be subject to all provisions of this title that are applicable to pleasure cars.

(b) A kei truck registered as a farm truck shall be subject to all provisions of this title that are applicable to farm trucks.

(c) The Traffic Committee and political subdivisions of this State shall not adopt any rules or ordinances that would have the effect of prohibiting:

(1) a kei vehicle that is registered as a pleasure car from being operated in the same manner and locations as other pleasure cars; and

(2) a kei truck that is registered as a farm truck from being operated in the same manner and locations as other farm trucks.

* * * Inspection Manual * * *

Sec. 24. INSPECTION MANUAL; AMENDMENT

(a)(1) The Department of Motor Vehicles shall amend the inspection manual to increase its focus on vehicle conditions that constitute genuine safety issues; eliminate outdated procedures; and provide clear, consistent guidance for both inspection mechanics and members of the public.

(2) It is the intent of the General Assembly that the amendments to the inspection manual adopted pursuant to this section shall ensure that:

(A) the inspection manual only requires failure of an inspection when, as determined by the Commissioner, the condition of a vehicle system or component constitutes an immediate safety risk; and

(B) a vehicle owner shall be advised of conditions of vehicle systems and components that do not constitute an immediate safety risk but may become a safety risk at some time in the future.

(3) In preparing the amendments to the inspection manual, the Department shall specifically determine whether amendments to the provisions relating to the following vehicle systems and components are necessary to comply with the legislative intent set forth in subdivision (2) of this subsection:

(A) tires;

(B) power steering;

(C) suspension;

(D) brake rotors;

(E) lighting;

(F) electrical systems and components;

(G) windshield;

(H) windows;

(I) windshield wipers;

(J) vehicle body; and

(K) in the discretion of the Commissioner, any other vehicle systems or components.

(4) In preparing the amendments to the inspection manual, the Department shall determine whether any tests or procedures require amendment or elimination, including the on-highway road test for brakes and the headlamp aiming test.

(5) In preparing the amendments to the inspection manual, the Department shall provide additional visual guidance regarding when certain conditions warrant failure of an inspection.

(b) On or before August 1, 2026, the Department of Motor Vehicles shall:

(1) file with the Secretary of State pursuant to the provisions of 3 V.S.A. § 838 proposed amendments to the Inspection of Motor Vehicles rules (CVR 14-050-022) necessary to implement the provisions of this section; and

(2) adopt emergency rules pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 844 to implement the provisions of this section while permanent rule amendments are pending, which shall be deemed to have met the standard for emergency rulemaking set

forth in 3 V.S.A. § 844(a).

(c) The Commissioner of Motor Vehicles shall submit to the House and Senate Committees on Transportation the following reports regarding the rule amendments proposed pursuant to this section:

(1) Not more than five days after the Department files proposed rule amendments to the Inspection of Motor Vehicles rules (CVR 14-050-022) with the Secretary of State pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 838, the Commissioner shall submit a summary of the proposed amendments and an annotated copy of the inspection manual that shows the proposed changes.

(2) Not more than five days after the Department files final proposed rule amendments to the Inspection of Motor Vehicles rules (CVR 14-050-022) with the Secretary of State and Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 841, the Commissioner shall submit a summary of the proposed amendments, an annotated copy of the inspection manual that shows the proposed changes, and a copy of the responsiveness summary, if any, that is submitted with the final proposed rules pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 841(b)(2).

(3) Not more than five days after the Department files the adopted rule amendments to the Inspection of Motor Vehicles rules (CVR 14-050-022) with the Secretary of State and Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 843, the Commissioner shall submit a brief written statement of the date on which the rule amendments were submitted pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 843, the effective date of the rule amendments, and any changes to the final proposed rule that were approved by the Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules.

* * * Limited-Use Specialty Vehicles * * *

Sec. 25. 23 V.S.A. § 4 is amended to read:

§ 4. DEFINITIONS

Except as may otherwise be provided by law, and unless the context otherwise requires in statutes relating to motor vehicles and enforcement of the law regulating vehicles, as provided in this title and 20 V.S.A. part 5, the following definitions shall apply:

* * *

(91) “Limited-use specialty vehicle” means a motor vehicle that is:

(A) built by either:

(i) a manufacturer that manufactures not more than 325 vehicles per year for sale in the United States; or

(ii) an individual and not for resale;

(B) maintained solely for occasional transportation, including exhibitions, club activities, parades, and other functions of public interest; and

(C) not used for daily transportation of passengers or property on any highway.

Sec. 26. 23 V.S.A. § 375 is added to read:

§ 375. LIMITED-USE SPECIALTY VEHICLES

(a) The Commissioner shall issue a certificate of registration for not more than 12 limited-use specialty vehicles per year.

(b) A vehicle that has been registered as a limited-use specialty vehicle shall not be permitted to be registered as any other type of vehicle.

(c) The annual fee for registration of a limited-use specialty vehicle shall be \$26.00.

(d) A vehicle registered under this section may be used on public highways:

(1) in exhibitions, club activities, parades, and other functions of public interest; and

(2) for occasional transportation of passengers or property, not to exceed one day per week.

Sec. 27. 23 V.S.A. § 1222 is amended to read:

§ 1222. INSPECTION OF REGISTERED VEHICLES

* * *

(f) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, a limited-use specialty vehicle registered pursuant to section 375 of this title shall undergo a safety inspection each year but shall not be required to undergo a visual emissions inspection or OBD systems inspection.

* * * License Plates * * *

Sec. 28. 23 V.S.A. § 511 is amended to read:

§ 511. MANNER OF DISPLAY

(a) Number plates.

(1) A motor vehicle operated on any highway shall have displayed in a conspicuous place either one or two number plates as the Commissioner may require. ~~Such~~ The number plates shall be furnished by the Commissioner and

shall show the number assigned to ~~such~~ the vehicle by the Commissioner. If only one number plate is furnished, the ~~same~~ plate shall be securely attached to the rear of the vehicle. If two are furnished, one shall be securely attached to the rear and one to the front of the vehicle.

(2)(A) ~~The number~~ Number plates shall be kept entirely unobscured, and the numerals and letters ~~thereon~~ on the plates shall be plainly legible at all times.

(B) Numerals and letters on number plates shall not be colored, tinted, or changed in any manner from their appearance at the time the plate was issued.

(C) A person shall not cover or obscure any numerals or letters on a number plate with any material or substance.

(3) ~~They~~ Number plates shall be kept horizontal, shall be so fastened as not to swing, excepting, however, there may be installed on a motor truck or truck tractor a device that would, upon contact with a substantial object, permit the rear number plate to swing toward the front of the vehicle, provided such device automatically returns the number plate to its original rigid position after contact is released, and the ground clearance of the lower edges thereof shall be established by the Commissioner pursuant to the provisions of 3 V.S.A. chapter 25.

* * *

(e) Temporary and in-transit registration plates. A motor vehicle issued a temporary or in-transit registration plate under sections 312, 458, 463, and 516–518 of this title operated on any highway shall have the temporary or in-transit registration plate displayed horizontally in a conspicuous place on the rear of the vehicle, including in the rear window. The temporary or in-transit registration plate shall be kept entirely unobscured, and the numerals and letters thereon shall be plainly legible at all times as provided pursuant to subsection (a) of this section.

* * * Motorcycle Exhaust Requirements * * *

Sec. 29. 23 V.S.A. § 1221 is amended to read:

§ 1221. CONDITION OF VEHICLE; EXCESSIVE NOISE

(a) A motor vehicle, operated on any highway, shall be in good mechanical condition and shall be properly equipped.

(b)(1) An individual shall not operate on a highway a motorcycle manufactured after December 31, 1985, that is not labeled in compliance with 40 C.F.R. § 205.158 and equipped with a muffler that meets the requirements

of 40 C.F.R. § 205.169.

(2) The prohibition in subdivision (1) of this subsection shall not apply when a motorcycle is operated in a race, contest, or demonstration of speed or skill at an authorized public exhibition held in accordance with applicable State or municipal law and land use permits.

(3) A motorcycle that does not meet the requirements of subdivision (1) of this subsection shall not pass an inspection required under section 1222 of this title.

* * * Effective Dates * * *

Sec. 30. EFFECTIVE DATES

(a) Secs. 1 (nondriver identification cards), 3 (detained individuals' operator's licenses), and 5 (detained individuals' learner's permits) shall take effect on January 1, 2027.

(b) This section and the remaining sections of this act shall take effect on July 1, 2026.

Second Reading

Favorable with Recommendation of Amendment

S. 211.

An act relating to motor vehicle inspections.

Reported favorably with recommendation of amendment by Senator White for the Committee on Transportation.

The Committee recommends that the bill be amended by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

Sec. 1. TWO-YEAR MOTOR VEHICLE INSPECTIONS; IMPLEMENTATION PLAN; REPORT

(a) The Secretaries of Transportation and of Natural Resources shall develop a plan to transition to a safety and emissions inspections program that requires pleasure cars to be inspected once every two years beginning in January 2028. The plan shall:

(1) establish a timeline for developing and implementing changes to the existing safety and emissions inspection program to ensure that the program can transition to a biennial inspection requirement for pleasure cars beginning in January 2028;

(2) identify specific actions that are necessary to ensure that Vermont remains in compliance with the requirements of the Clean Air Act, including

any necessary changes to the emissions inspection program and the State Implementation Plan;

(3) in addition to any issues or actions identified pursuant to subdivision (2) of this subsection, identify any additional issues related to a change to biennial emissions inspections that could prevent Vermont from remaining in compliance with the requirements of the Clean Air Act and potential options for addressing those issues;

(4) propose a fee structure for inspections and address the potential for different fees charged in relation to the inspection of different vehicle types;

(5) identify any anticipated impacts to State revenues during the transition to biennial inspections for pleasure cars and potential options for mitigating those impacts;

(6) include a proposal for amendments to the mileage-based user fee related to annual reporting of miles traveled by battery electric vehicles during years when they are not required to be inspected;

(7) outline an outreach and education program to inform inspection mechanics, inspection stations, vehicle owners, and other interested parties of the requirements of the new biennial inspection program; and

(8) identify any changes to the Vermont Statutes Annotated and the Code of Vermont Rules that are necessary to implement the plan.

(b) While developing the plan pursuant to subsection (a) of this section, the Secretaries of Transportation and of Natural Resources shall solicit feedback from stakeholders, including inspection station owners, inspection mechanics, motor vehicle owners, motor vehicle dealers, and other interested parties.

(c) On or before October 15, 2026, the Secretaries of Transportation and of Natural Resources shall submit a written report to the House Committees on Environment and on Transportation and the Senate Committees on Natural Resources and Energy and on Transportation regarding the plan developed pursuant to this section and any recommendations for legislative action.

Sec. 2. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on July 1, 2026.

(Committee vote: 4-1-0)

Reported favorably by Senator Mattos for the Committee on Finance.

The Committee recommends that the bill ought to pass when amended as recommended by the Committee on Transportation.

(Committee vote: 7-0-0)

S. 214.

An act relating to the provision of prekindergarten education in geographically isolated school districts.

Reported favorably with recommendation of amendment by Senator Heffernan for the Committee on Education.

The Committee recommends that the bill be amended by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

Sec. 1. 16 V.S.A. § 829 is amended to read:

§ 829. PREKINDERGARTEN EDUCATION

* * *

(i) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, the NEK Choice School District may provide prekindergarten education to eligible prekindergarten students by paying tuition pursuant to this section to one or more prekindergarten programs operated by a public school in New Hampshire that is located in a school district within 25 miles of the Vermont border. The Essex North Supervisory Union shall be responsible for administering enrollment procedures and managing prekindergarten tuition payments pursuant to this section and State Board of Education rules. The superintendent may apply for and receive a waiver from the Agency of Education and Agency of Human Services of any rule provision that is impractical for the NEK Choice School District or the New Hampshire program by demonstrating that a substantially equivalent provision is offered.

Sec. 2. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on July 1, 2026.

(Committee vote: 6-0-0)

S. 298.

An act relating to creating the Vermont Voting Rights Act.

Reported favorably with recommendation of amendment by Senator White for the Committee on Government Operations.

The Committee recommends that the bill be amended by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

* * * Vermont Voting Rights Act * * *

Sec. 1. SHORT TITLE

This act may be cited as the “Vermont Voting Rights Act of 2026.”

Sec. 2. 17 V.S.A. chapter 59 is added to read:

CHAPTER 59. VERMONT VOTING RIGHTS ACT

Subchapter 1. Rights of Voters

§ 2801. DEFINITIONS

As used in this chapter:

(1) “Municipality” means a town, city, village, school district, or other political subdivision that holds public elections.

(2) “Protected class” means a group of citizens protected from discrimination based on race or color or membership in a language minority group.

§ 2802. VOTE DENIAL OR DILUTION

(a) No voting qualification or prerequisite to voting or standard, practice, or procedure shall be imposed or applied by the State or any municipality in a manner that results in a denial or abridgement of the right of any citizen of the United States to vote based on race or color or membership in a language minority group.

(b) A violation of subsection (a) of this section is established if, on the basis of the totality of circumstances, it is shown that the political processes leading to nomination or election in the State or a municipality are not equally open to participation by members of a protected class in that its members have less opportunity than other members of the electorate to participate in the political processes or to elect representatives of their choice. The extent to which members of a protected class have been elected to office in the State or municipality is one circumstance that may be considered.

(c) Nothing in this section shall be construed to establish a right to have members of a protected class elected in numbers equal to their proportion in the population.

§ 2803. IMPAIRMENT OF VOTING RIGHTS OF REGISTERED VOTERS

Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to deny, impair, or otherwise adversely affect the right to vote of any registered voter.

§ 2804. CIVIL ACTIONS BY ATTORNEY GENERAL

(a) Whenever the Attorney General has reasonable cause to believe that a violation of this subchapter has occurred and that the rights of any voter or group of voters have been affected by such violation, the Attorney General

may initiate a civil action in the Civil Division of the Superior Court in the county in which the alleged violation has occurred for appropriate relief.

(b) In such civil action, the court may:

(1) award such preventive relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction, restraining order, or other order against the person responsible for a violation of this title, as is necessary to ensure the full enjoyment of the rights granted by this title;

(2) assess a civil penalty against the respondent of not more than \$5,000.00 for a first violation and of not more than \$25,000.00 for any subsequent violation; and

(3) issue an order requiring reimbursement to the State of Vermont for the reasonable value of its services and its expenses in investigating and prosecuting the action.

Sec. 3. 17 V.S.A. chapter 35 is amended to read:

CHAPTER 35. OFFENSES AGAINST THE PURITY OF ELECTIONS

Subchapter 1. Penalties Upon Officers

* * *

§ 1934. INTERFERENCE WITH VOTING

(a) An election officer or a person acting under color of the law shall not intentionally:

(1) refuse to permit or fail to permit a qualified voter to vote;

(2) refuse or fail to tabulate, count, or report the vote of a qualified voter;

(3) change a ballot of a voter to prevent the voter from voting as the voter desires.

(b)(1) A person who violates subdivision (a)(1) or (2) of this section shall be subject to a civil penalty of not more than \$1,000.00 for each affected voter.

(2) A person who violates subdivision (a)(3) or (4) of this section shall be imprisoned not more than six months or fined not more than \$1,000.00, or both, for each affected voter.

(c) This section applies to any election and to any method used by a political party for selection of its nominees and for selection of delegates to its conventions and meetings.

* * *

Subchapter 3. Miscellaneous

* * *

§ 2022. INTIMIDATION OF ELECTION OFFICERS

(a) A person shall not intentionally, by bribery, intimidation, threats, coercion, or other means in violation of the election laws, hinder or prevent, or attempt to hinder or prevent, an election officer at any polling place from holding an election.

(b) A person who violates this section shall be imprisoned not more than two years or fined not more than \$2,000.00, or both.

§ 2023. INTIMIDATION OF VOTERS; CIVIL CAUSE OF ACTION

(a) A person shall not intentionally intimidate, threaten, or coerce, or intentionally attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce:

(1) any other person in giving the person's vote or ballot; or

(2) a voter to deter or prevent the voter from voting.

(b) A person who violates this section shall be imprisoned not more than two years or fined not more than \$2,000.00, or both.

(c) In addition to the criminal penalty provided in subsection (b) of this section, such actions shall also create a private cause of action. A voter who is intimidated, threatened, or coerced by another person in violation of subsection (a) of this section shall be entitled to institute an action for injunctive relief, including an application for a permanent or temporary injunction, restraining order, or other order, against such person. The action shall be initiated in the Civil Division of the Superior Court in the county in which the alleged violation has occurred. A court may, in its discretion, allow a private plaintiff a reasonable attorney's fee as part of the costs, if the plaintiff is the prevailing party.

(d) This section applies to any election and to any method used by a political party for selection of its nominees and for selection of delegates to its conventions and meetings.

§ 2024. COMMUNICATION OF FALSE INFORMATION TO ELIGIBLE VOTERS

(a) A person shall not intentionally communicate to a registered voter false information, knowing the information to be false, for the purpose of impeding the voter in exercising the voter's right to vote. The provisions of this section shall apply to information only about the date, time, or place of the election; how to register to vote; or a voter's registration status.

(b) Any person who violates the provisions of subsection (a) of this section shall be imprisoned not more than six months or fined not more than \$1,000.00, or both. A violation may be prosecuted in the Superior Court in either the county in which the alleged communication was made or in the county in which the communication was received, if different.

(c) In addition to the criminal penalty provided in subsection (b) of this section, a violation of the provisions of this section shall also create a private cause of action. A registered voter to whom such false information is communicated shall be entitled to institute an action for injunctive relief, including an application for a permanent or temporary injunction, restraining order, or other order, against the person communicating such false information. The action shall be initiated in the Superior Court in either the county in which the alleged communication was made or in the county in which the communication was received, if different. The court may, in its discretion, allow a private plaintiff a reasonable attorney's fee as part of the costs, if the plaintiff is the prevailing party.

* * *

* * * Safety Protections for Candidates * * *

Sec. 4. 17 V.S.A. § 2901 is amended to read:

§ 2901. DEFINITIONS

As used in this chapter:

* * *

(7) "Expenditure" means a payment, disbursement, distribution, advance, deposit, loan, or gift of money or anything of value, paid or promised to be paid, for the purpose of influencing an election, advocating a position on a public question, or supporting or opposing one or more candidates.

(A) Expenditures may include those expenses that are necessary to allow a candidate to campaign, such as expenses for the care of a dependent family member that are incurred as a direct result of campaign activity or for the provision of security for the candidate.

* * *

* * * Effective Date * * *

Sec. 5. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on passage.

(Committee vote: 5-0-0)

Report of Committee of Conference

H. 50.

An act relating to identifying underutilized State buildings and land.

To the Senate and House of Representatives:

The Committee of Conference to which were referred the disagreeing votes of the two Houses upon House Bill entitled:

H. 50. An act relating to identifying underutilized State buildings and land.

Respectfully reports that it has met and considered the same and recommends that the Senate accede to the House proposal of amendment to the Senate proposal of amendment with further amendment thereto in Sec. 1, 29 V.S.A. § 165, by striking out subsection (e) in its entirety and inserting in lieu thereof a new subsection (e) to read as follows:

(e) The Commissioner of Buildings and General Services shall maintain an inventory of all State-owned or State-leased buildings and land and shall ~~biannually~~ annually compile and update the information received under subsection (g) of this section, which shall be considered once available in making spacing allocations and designating uses under subsection (c) of this section.

SEN. WENDY K. HARRISON

SEN. JOHN BENSON

SEN. ROBERT PLUNKETT

Committee on the part of the Senate

REP. JAMES A.R. GREGOIRE

REP. CONOR CASEY

REP. SHAWN SWEENEY

Committee on the part of the House

CONCURRENT RESOLUTIONS FOR NOTICE

Concurrent Resolutions For Notice Under Joint Rule 16

The following joint concurrent resolutions have been introduced for approval by the Senate and House. They will be adopted by the Senate unless a Senator requests floor consideration before the end of the session of the next legislative day. Requests for floor consideration should be communicated to the Secretary's Office.

S.C.R. 7-8 (For text of Resolutions, see Addendum to Senate Calendar for March 12, 2026)

H.C.R. 217-226 (For text of Resolutions, see Addendum to House Calendar for March 12, 2026)

CONFIRMATIONS

The following appointment will be considered by the Senate, as a group, under suspension of the Rules, as moved by the President *pro tempore*, for confirmation together and without debate, by consent thereby given by the Senate. However, upon request of any senator, any appointment may be singled out and acted upon separately by the Senate, with consideration given to the report of the Committee to which the appointment was referred, and with full debate; and further, all appointments for the positions of Secretaries of Agencies, Commissioners of Departments, Judges, Magistrates, and members of the Public Utility Commission and the Cannabis Control Board, underlined below, shall be fully and separately acted upon.

Mike Donohue of Shelburne, VT – Member of the Vermont Economic Progress Council – By Senator Mattos for the Committee on Finance (February 27, 2026)

JFO NOTICE

Grants and Positions that have been submitted to the Joint Fiscal Committee by the Administration, under 32 V.S.A. §5(b)(3):

JFO #3273: \$29,303,666.00 to the Public Service Department, Office of Economic Opportunity from the U.S. Department of Energy. The Home Energy Rebate Program funds will be used to weatherize low-income homes. The first-year distribution is \$14,133.00 with subsequent yearly awards through May 31, 2029, for a total of \$29,303,666.00.

[Received March 9, 2026]

FOR INFORMATION ONLY

CROSSOVER DATES

The Joint Rules Committee established the following crossover deadlines:

(1) All **Senate/House** bills must be reported out of the last committee of reference (including the Committees on Appropriations and Finance/Ways and Means, except as provided below in (2) and the exceptions listed below) on or before **Friday, March 13, 2026**, and filed with the Secretary/Clerk so they may be placed on the Calendar for Notice the next legislative day. Committee bills must be voted out of Committee by **Friday, March 13, 2026**.

(2) All **Senate/House** bills referred pursuant to Senate Rule 31 or House Rule 35(a) to the Committees on Appropriations and Finance/Ways and Means must be reported out by the last of those committees on or before **Friday**,

March 20, 2026, and filed with the Secretary/Clerk so they may be placed on the Calendar for Notice the next legislative day.

Note: The Senate will not act on bills that do not meet these crossover deadlines, without the consent of the Senate Rules Committee.

Exceptions to the foregoing deadlines include the major money bills (the General Appropriations Bill (“The Big Bill”), the Transportation Capital Bill, the Capital Construction Bill, and the Fee/Revenue Bills).